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INVESTOR INFORMATION 
 

2020 Cash Dividends Declared 
 Frequency  Record Date  Payment Date  Per Share Amount  
 Quarterly (1)  April 7, 2020  April 16, 2020  $0.29  
 Quarterly (2)  July 7, 2020  July 16, 2020  $0.29  
 Quarterly (3)  October 13, 2020  October 22, 2020  $0.30  
 Quarterly (4)  December 8, 2020  December 17, 2020  $0.30  
 Special  January 8, 2021  January 19, 2021  $0.15  

 
Ten-Year Common Stock Price and Dividend History 

   Common Stock Price  Cash Dividends  
 Year  High  Low  Close  Declared Per Share  

 2011  $16.00    $8.95  $12.03  $0.52  
 2012  $16.33  $12.12  $14.71  $0.53  
 2013  $30.88  $14.76  $29.79  $0.60  
 2014  $30.79  $24.27  $27.77  $0.98  
 2015  $30.29  $22.16  $26.53  $1.05  
 2016  $37.87  $21.90  $36.23  $1.10  
 2017  $41.23  $31.38  $39.39  $1.14  
 2018  $47.67  $35.77  $39.62  $1.31  
 2019  $46.51  $37.58  $45.99  $1.31  
 2020  $47.05  $26.66  $46.01  $1.33  

 
2021 Anticipated Dividend Dates 1  2021 Anticipated Earnings Dates 1 

 Quarter  Record Date  Payment Date    Quarter  Announcement Date  
 1  April 13, 2021  April 22, 2021    1  April 22, 2021  
 2  July 13, 2021  July 22, 2021    2  July 22, 2021  
 3  October 12, 2021  October 21, 2021    3  October 21, 2021  
 4  December 7, 2021  December 16, 2021    4  January 27, 2022  

___________________________ 
1 Subject to approval by the Board of Directors 
 
Stock Listing 
Glacier Bancorp, Inc.'s common stock trades on the 
NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol: 
GBCI.  There are approximately 1,669 shareholders 
of record for Glacier Bancorp, Inc. stock. 

Annual Meeting 
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on 
April 28, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. Mountain Time virtually at  
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/GBCI2021. 

Automatic Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
Shareholders may reinvest their dividends and make 
additional cash purchases of common stock by 
participating in the Company's dividend 
reinvestment plan.  Call American Stock Transfer 
& Trust Company at (877) 390-3076 for more 
information and to request a prospectus. 

Email Notifications 
Readers may subscribe to Glacier Bancorp, Inc. email 
notifications for corporate events, document filings, 
press releases and end-of-day stock quotes in the Email 
Notification section of the Company's website. 
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49 Commons Loop 
Kalispell, Montana 59901 
(406) 751-7708 
www.glacierbancorp.com 

Stock Transfer Agent 
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC 
Brooklyn, New York 
(877) 390-3076 
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www.bkd.com 
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Miller Nash Graham & Dunn LLP 
Seattle, Washington 
www.millernash.com 
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Kalispell, Montana 
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

2020 was a historic year which none of us will soon forget.  I first want to thank all of the Glacier employees for 
the hard work, commitment, leadership and the empathy that they demonstrated throughout 2020.  The 
Covid-19 virus impacted everything it touched and will likely reshape how we do things from travel to buying 
homes.  We see a bright future and are confident in our ability to adapt to change and continue to thrive.

The team did an exceptional job keeping our Company running while successfully meeting many challenges - 
ensuring employees and our customers were safe, dealing with absences and staffing challenges, managing 
through local, state and federal mandates, and all the while striving to maintain excellent service.  Despite the 
pandemic and historic economic disruptions, the Company achieved record results for the year.

We started 2020 with a solid business plan and were promptly hit with the pandemic.  The U.S. government 
turned to banks to help stabilize American businesses, and we were able to play a significant role in quickly 
getting aid to our customers through the Payroll Protection Program, or PPP,  which was put in place as part of 
the CARES Act.  We reached out to our customers quickly and over a roughly three-month period made over 
16,000 loans totaling $1.5 billion.  During this time, we gained over 3,000 new customers by assisting them 
with their PPP applications. We hope to make many of these new customer relationships permanent.  We also 
finalized the acquisition of State Bank of Arizona in the middle of the pandemic and completed the first virtual 
system conversion in our history.  The results were seamless and very well received by our customers. Toward 
the end of the year, we spent a lot of time on the forgiveness phase of the PPP program to confirm the 
government’s waiver of the need to repay the loans, an important final step in the PPP lending lifecycle.  

During the year our customers showed remarkable resilience in the face of adversity.  This is one of the reasons 
we feel so strongly about the quality of our loan portfolio.  Our customers are primarily small business owners 
who are committed to being successful and supporting their communities and employees.  They have proven to 
be innovative as well as resourceful and, as a result, stand in a strong position as we enter 2021.  Hopefully 
most of the negative impact of the virus will be in our rear-view mirror by the latter part of 2021.

The economies of the eight states that we serve are doing very well.  We are fortunate to live in what many 
consider some of the best markets in the country.  Our communities were very strong going into the pandemic 
and continue to do well.  The Rocky Mountain West benefited from a strong summer tourist season as many 
people sought out the wide-open spaces to vacation and take a break from more crowded areas.  As a result, 
many of our customers were able to quickly get back on track with their business plans, with some even 
reporting that they had one of their best years.   In addition to the tourist season, we also saw a strong surge of 
in-migration as people decided to move out of more urban coastal markets, especially given the ability to 
leverage technology to work from anywhere they decide is home.  Almost 25 percent of the home purchases we 
financed were to customers coming from outside of our service area footprint.  The attraction of the business-
friendly environments of our eight states together with the lower cost of living and high quality of life were 
fundamentals that drove growth before the pandemic and have proven to be even more important now as our 
economies recover.   

Because of the travel restrictions imposed by Covid-19, we spent more time in the office and were able to focus 
on evaluating our investment spending.  We continued to invest in technology to improve our customer service, 
keep our support infrastructure current, generate more revenue, and reduce expenses.  We implemented 
enhancements to our teller system, upgraded our teleconferencing systems to facilitate the many virtual 
meetings, and improved our remote working capability to accommodate the large increase of employees who 
wanted to work remotely.  We launched a new online account opening process for consumers and businesses 
that cut the account opening time in half.  We also launched a new payment card product for our commercial 
customers that helps them substantially reduce the cost and time it takes to process accounts payable.  In 
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addition, the commercial credit card will help customers better manage their business expenses.  We are proud 
of these accomplishments that represent strong teamwork among multiple departments during a challenging 
work environment.

We believe that our unique model of serving customers with our local brands, supported by talented bankers 
making local decisions that best suit their customers in their markets, is a winning formula.  Our model allowed 
us to be nimble and respond quickly to individual customer circumstances in each of our markets.

Going forward, we are hopeful that the recent introduction of vaccines will be available to all who want them 
and that by fall we are continuing to move back to normal.  Regardless, we will continue to be diligent in 
protecting our employees and customers until things substantially improve.  We believe our markets will 
rebound ahead of the national economy and are positioned to do well for the foreseeable future.

As noted earlier, the Company had a record year in 2020 despite the many challenges that surfaced.  We were 
very pleased to see our credit portfolio perform so well.  We modified loans for our customers going into the 
pandemic as many were unsure what to expect.  Our bank regulators helped facilitate this by providing leeway 
for the banks to offer help to small businesses without having to treat the loan as a troubled credit.  We viewed 
the modifications as a way to help good businesses get through a tough time by providing a little more capital 
given the negative impact of Covid-19. We did not view these modifications as a band-aid to prop up damaged 
businesses that didn’t appear to have good long-term prospects.  We ended up granting over 3,000 
modifications for $1.5 billion and most of them were short-term.  By the end of the year, there were 326 
remaining modifications for $95 million, a reduction of over $1.4 billion.  The remaining modifications were 
primarily in industries hardest hit by the pandemic - hotels and restaurants.  We believe the small number of 
customers asking for further help in the form of a modification is a very positive sign regarding the strength of 
our loan portfolio.  We ended the year with credit performance at near record levels with non-performing loans 
at 0.18 percent of total assets and delinquency at 0.20 percent of loans.

The Company grew loans $1.6 billion, or 17 percent, due to the acquisition of State Bank of Arizona, PPP 
lending, and organic growth.  Pricing on new loans created some pressure on our net interest margin with lower 
rates the result of the “lower-for-longer” interest rate environment. We expect this lower rate environment to 
continue to put pressure on our margin for 2021.   We also expect to see more organic loan growth in 2021 as 
customers become more confident about business prospects and this should help improve our margin. 

Core deposit growth for the year was $4.0 billion, or 37 percent.  This level of growth was unexpected and was 
driven by the unprecedented level of government fiscal stimulus, PPP loans proceeds remaining in our bank, 
and reduced spending by businesses and consumers due to the pandemic.  These deposits impacted the business, 
primarily in our margin, as a result of excess liquidity invested in high quality, low rate investment securities. 
The good news is that both our cost of deposits and total cost of funding came down in 2020, from 21 basis 
points to 9 basis points and from 30 basis points to 14 basis points, respectively.  These cost reductions were 
completely overshadowed by the impact of the surge deposits on earning asset yields.  We invest customer 
deposits to get a return, and while this will help net interest income, our margin suffers because of the low 
yields we receive on high quality investments.  The margin started the year at 4.45 percent and ended at 4.03 
percent, showing the impact of reduced investment yields along with lower loan yields due to low interest rates. 
The entire industry is feeling this pressure, and we are no different.  And while we care about margin, we will 
continue to focus on net interest income while rates are low to drive higher earnings per share and profitability.

We had a record year in the mortgage business, closing over $2.071 billion of loans and recording gains of 
$99.5 million from the sale of these loans, a 192 percent increase over the prior year.  

Our cost control was good with our efficiency ratio dropping to 49.97 percent for the year.  The efficiency ratio 
measures a company’s expenses and revenue and this measure is an expression of how much a company has 
spent to earn a dollar.  If you take out the impact of the PPP loans (because this program is unlikely to be 
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repeated after 2021), our efficiency ratio would have been 53.70 percent.  This ratio is close to our target range 
of 54 percent to 55 percent.  

Even with our significant capital levels, we were successful in continuing to provide exceptional shareholder 
returns with a 12.15 percent return on equity and a 1.62 percent return on assets for the year.  Our five-year 
annual growth rate for assets was 14.4 percent which was driven by a growth rate of 14.6 percent on loans and 
15.0 percent on deposits during this time.  This resulted in providing shareholders a five-year annual growth rate 
of 17.1 percent in net income and providing us with a great base for future earnings growth.

Dividends remain our preferred source of capital return, and in 2020 we declared $1.18 per share of regular 
dividends and a special dividend of $0.15 per share. Together they represent $1.33 in total dividends, a 2 
percent increase versus the prior year, and a per share dividend yield of 3 percent.

Our tangible book value, one measure of a company’s value, increased to $296 million, or 21 percent, over the 
end of the prior year.  We are proud of our history of steadily increasing the tangible book value of the 
Company and continue to focus on keeping that number moving higher.  Going forward, we expect solid growth 
in 2021 as the markets begin to recover from Covid-19. 

It was another good year for total shareholder return as well. This is a measurement of stock price appreciation 
along with dividends paid.  For 2020, our total shareholder return was in the 71st percentile of our peer group 
companies.

Our focus on Environmental, Social and Governance standards (ESG) continued in 2020.  Our Company’s 
performance in this area is becoming more important as the focus on environmental and social issues becomes 
more prominent. We were pleased to receive strong ratings for all aspects of ESG.  You can see our 
“Community and Social Responsibility Report” on our Company website at GBCI.com.  This document 
outlines the many initiatives we have undertaken in environmental and social areas.  We believe this attention to 
ESG is consistent with our community banking model.

We were very pleased to be recognized in the top three of Forbes’ performance ranking of America’s 100 
largest banks.  Bank Director placed us in the top four in the 2020 Bank Performance Scorecard for banks with 
total assets from $5 billion to $50 billion.  In the second quarter of 2020, the S&P Dow Jones Indices selected 
the Company to transition from the S&P SmallCap 600® to the S&P MidCap 400®.  The S&P MidCap 400® 
index consists of 400 companies that are chosen with regard to market capitalization, liquidity and industry 
representation.  We are extremely proud of these achievements.

Before ending, I want to thank our retired Board Chair Dallas Herron for his years of service on our Glacier 
Bank division Board as well as the GBCI Board.  Dallas was a great asset to the Company and we wish him the 
best.  I also want to thank Craig Langel for taking on the role of our Board Chair, and welcome new Board 
members Robert Cashell and Kristin Heck. 

Thank you for your trust in the Company and your support. We greatly appreciate it. 

Randall “Randy” Chesler
President and Chief Executive Officer
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ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS

 

ACL – allowance for credit losses GAAP – accounting principles generally accepted in the
ALCO – Asset Liability Committee United States of America
ARRC – Alternative Reference Rates Committee GDP - Gross domestic product
ASC – Accounting Standards CodificationTM Ginnie Mae – Government National Mortgage Association
ASU – Accounting Standards Update GLBA – Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Services
ATM – automated teller machine Modernization Act of 1999
Bank – Glacier Bank Heritage – Heritage Bancorp and its subsidiary, Heritage Bank of Nevada
Basel III – third installment of the Basel Accords HTM - Held-to-maturity
BHCA – Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended Interest rate locks – residential real estate derivatives for commitments
Board – Glacier Bancorp, Inc.’s Board of Directors Interstate Act – Riegle-Neal Interstate Banking and Branching
bp or bps – basis point(s) Efficiency Act of 1994
BSA – Bank Secrecy Act IRS – Internal Revenue Service
CARES Act - Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act KWB NASDAQ Regional Banking Index - KBW Regional 
CDE – Certified Development Entity Banking Index
CDFI Fund – Community Development Financial Institutions Fund LIBOR – London Interbank Offered Rate
CEO – Chief Executive Officer LIHTC – Low-Income Housing Tax Credit
CECL – current expected credit losses MT Division of Banking – Montana Department of Administration’s
CFO – Chief Financial Officer Division of Banking and Financial Institutions
CFPB – Consumer Financial Protection Bureau NII – net interest income
Collegiate – Columbine Capital Corp. and its subsidiary, NMTC – New Markets Tax Credits

Collegiate Peaks Bank NOW –  negotiable order of withdrawal
Company – Glacier Bancorp, Inc. NRSRO – Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations
COSO – Committee of  Sponsoring Organizations of the OCI – other comprehensive income

Treadway Commission OREO – other real estate owned
COVID-19 – coronavirus disease of 2019 Patriot Act – Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing 

AppropriateCRA – Community Reinvestment Act of 1977 Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001
DDA – demand deposit account PCAOB – Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
DIF – federal Deposit Insurance Fund PCD – purchased credit-deteriorated
Dodd-Frank Act – Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and PPP – Paycheck Protection Program

Consumer Protection Act of 2010 Proxy Statement – the 2021 Annual Meeting Proxy Statement
EGRRC Act – Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Repurchase agreements – securities sold under agreements

Protection Act to repurchase
Fannie Mae – Federal National Mortgage Association ROU – right-of-use
FASB – Financial Accounting Standards Board S&P – Standard and Poor’s
FDIC – Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation SBA – United States Small Business Administration
FHLB – Federal Home Loan Bank SBAZ – State Bank Corp. and its subsidiary, State Bank of Arizona
Final Rules – final rules implemented by the federal banking SEC – United States Securities and Exchange Commission

agencies that amended regulatory risk-based capital rules SERP – Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
FNB – FNB Bancorp and its subsidiary, The First National Bank SOFR – Secured Overnight Financing Rate

of Layton SOX Act – Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
FRB – Federal Reserve Bank Tax Act – The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
Freddie Mac – Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation TBA – to-be-announced
FSB – Inter-Mountain Bancorp., Inc., and its subsidiary, TDR – troubled debt restructuring

First Security Bank VIE – variable interest entity
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PART I
 
Item 1.  Business

General
Glacier Bancorp, Inc., headquartered in Kalispell, Montana, is a Montana corporation incorporated in 2004 as a successor corporation 
to the Delaware corporation originally incorporated in 1990.  The terms “Company,” "we," "us" and "our" mean Glacier Bancorp, Inc. 
and its subsidiaries, when appropriate.  The Company is a publicly-traded company and its common stock trades on the NASDAQ 
Global Select Market under the symbol GBCI.  We provide a full range of banking services to individuals and businesses from 193 
locations in Montana, Idaho, Utah, Washington, Wyoming, Colorado, Arizona and Nevada through our wholly-owned bank 
subsidiary, Glacier Bank (“Bank”).  We offer a wide range of banking products and services, including: 1) retail banking; 2) business 
banking; 3) real estate, commercial, agriculture and consumer loans; and 4) mortgage origination and loan servicing.  We serve 
individuals, small to medium-sized businesses, community organizations and public entities.  For information regarding our lending, 
investment and funding activities, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations.”

The Company includes the parent holding company and the Bank.  As of December 31, 2020, the Bank consists of sixteen bank 
divisions and a corporate division.  The bank divisions operate under separate names, management teams and advisory directors and 
include the following: 

• Glacier Bank (Kalispell, Montana) with operations in Montana; 
• First Security Bank of Missoula (Missoula, Montana) with operations in Montana; 
• Valley Bank of Helena (Helena, Montana) with operations in Montana; 
• First Security Bank (Bozeman, Montana) with operations in Montana; 
• Western Security Bank (Billings, Montana) with operations in Montana;
• First Bank of Montana (Lewistown, Montana) with operations in Montana; 
• Mountain West Bank (Coeur d’Alene, Idaho) with operations in Idaho and Washington; 
• Citizens Community Bank (Pocatello, Idaho) with operations in Idaho; 
• First Bank (Powell, Wyoming) with operations in Wyoming;
• First State Bank (Wheatland, Wyoming) with operations in Wyoming; 
• North Cascades Bank (Chelan, Washington) with operations in Washington; 
• Bank of the San Juans (Durango, Colorado) with operations in Colorado;
• Collegiate Peaks Bank (Buena Vista, Colorado) with operations in Colorado;
• The Foothills Bank (Yuma, Arizona) with operations in Arizona;
• First Community Bank Utah (Layton, Utah) with operations in Utah; and
• Heritage Bank of Nevada (Reno, NV) with operations in Nevada. 

The corporate division includes the Bank’s investment portfolio and wholesale borrowings, and other centralized functions.  We 
consider the Bank to be our sole operating segment.  

The Bank has subsidiary interests in variable interest entities (“VIE”) for which the Bank has both the power to direct the VIE’s 
significant activities and the obligation to absorb losses or right to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant to 
the VIE.  These subsidiary interests are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  The Bank also has subsidiary 
interests in VIEs for which the Bank does not have a controlling financial interest and is not the primary beneficiary.  These subsidiary 
interests are not included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

The parent holding company owns non-bank subsidiaries that have issued trust preferred securities which qualify as Tier 2 regulatory 
capital instruments.  The trust subsidiaries are not included in our consolidated financial statements.  Our investments in the trust 
subsidiaries are included in other assets on our statements of financial condition.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company and its subsidiaries were not engaged in any operations in foreign countries.
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Human Capital
As of December 31, 2020, we employed 3,032 persons, 2,837 of whom were employed full time. No employees were represented by a 
collective bargaining group.  We believe our employees are united by our commitment to serve our customers and communities and 
that our customers are best served by a staff of competent, caring employees who are customer oriented. Our employees are one of our 
most valuable assets. We consider our employee relations to be excellent.  

We strive to provide a safe and gratifying workplace for our employees.   We promote and support a work environment free from any 
form of harassment, discrimination, bullying, or retaliation, and we are committed to principles of equal employment opportunity and 
to taking affirmative steps to hire and advance qualified minorities, women, individuals with disabilities, and protected veterans.  We 
also encourage employee growth and development in a variety of ways, including through formal and informal training, relationships 
with colleagues and internal mentors, and by making a variety of resources available. 

The Company has established a Training Committee charged with creating company-wide training expectations for employees to 
encourage adherence to internal policies and procedures and compliance with the variety of laws and regulations applicable to our 
operations.  We also strive to offer multidisciplinary educational opportunities for employees to improve their knowledge and skills 
for their current positions, as well as to create opportunities to advance within the organization.  Other targeted development 
opportunities are available for group leaders and promising employees, such as tuition support for employees seeking additional 
degrees or certifications through our Tuition Reimbursement program. 

Our employee’s overall health and well-being is a top priority. It is our goal for all employees to work hard and experience a high 
quality work life, but we also encourage employees to be active participants in our communities, and to enjoy quality time with their 
families and cultivate their independent interests. We have developed several programs to encourage a safe and healthy workplace, 
including:

•              GBCI Injury and Illness Prevention Program
•              Work-life Balance Employee Assistance Program (EAP)
•              WellSteps program offering assessments, goal setting tools, activities, incentives, and rewards
•              The appointment of Safety & Wellness Ambassadors
•              Quarterly Wellness Campaigns
•              Workstation Ergonomics Assessments

Through our Injury and Illness Prevention Program, we have established protocols for minimizing work place injuries and incidents. 
Instilling safety as a standard of practice is facilitated by a Safety Committee at each of our banking divisions and by Safety & 
Wellness Ambassadors at each location. 

We also believe employee retention is critical to our success, and we are proud of our track record when it comes to retaining 
employees, including many employees at institutions we acquire. Retention strategies are woven into all our compensation and 
retirement programs, and even our efforts at expansion. We provide our qualifying employees with a comprehensive benefit program, 
including health, dental and vision insurance, life and accident insurance, short- and long-term disability coverage, vacation and sick 
leave. In addition we offer a Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan, stock-based compensation plan, deferred compensation plans, and a 
supplemental executive retirement plan for certain employees (“SERP”). For select management-level employees, we also offer our 
Short and Long-Term Incentive Plans, which are cash and equity-based compensation plans, respectively, that are designed to 
encourage achievement of short and long-term financial goals as our determined by our Board of Directors from time to time, and to 
further retention through long-term vesting of certain awards earned. See Note 14 in the Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for detailed information regarding employee benefit plans and eligibility requirements.

We adapted quickly during the COVID-19 pandemic, to ensure that our employees were able to continue to work, receive a paycheck 
and to assist those who could not work.  We quickly provided work from home capabilities for those employees who were able to do 
their jobs remotely.  This action helped to create space for our employees and help slow the spread of the virus. We established a 
special time off benefit provided to those due to virus exposure or childcare issues so that they could remain at home, receive their pay 
and not exhaust their usual time off benefits. In addition we moved our vacation accrual caps to allow additional accruals for 
employees who continued to work during the pandemic. For employees who continued to work on site, we implemented safety 
protocols to mitigate risk of exposure. In addition, we expanded the scope of our EAP and regularly provided resources to employees 
to encourage wellness during the course of the pandemic.

Board of Directors and Committees
The Company's Board of Directors (“Board”) has the ultimate authority and responsibility for overseeing risk management at the 
Company.  Some aspects of risk oversight are fulfilled at the Board level, and the Board delegates other aspects of its risk oversight 
function to its committees.  The Board has established, among others, an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, a 
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee, a Compliance Committee, and a Risk Oversight Committee.  Additional information 
regarding Board committees is set forth under the heading “Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors - Committee 
Membership” in the Company’s 2021 Annual Meeting Proxy Statement (“Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Website Access
Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those 
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of charge 
through our website (www.glacierbancorp.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after we have filed the material with, or furnished it 
to, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).  Copies can also be obtained by accessing the SEC’s website 
(www.sec.gov).

Supervision and Regulation
We are subject to extensive regulation under federal and state laws.  This section provides a general overview of the federal and state 
regulatory framework applicable to us.  In general, this regulatory framework is designed to protect depositors, the federal Deposit 
Insurance Fund (“DIF”), and the federal and state banking system as a whole, rather than specifically for the protection of 
shareholders.  Note that this section is not intended to summarize all laws and regulations applicable to us.  Descriptions of statutory or 
regulatory provisions do not purport to be complete and are qualified by reference to those provisions. 

These statutes and regulations, as well as related policies, continue to be subject to change by Congress, state legislatures, and federal 
and state regulators.  Changes in statutes, regulations, or regulatory policies applicable to us (including their interpretation or 
implementation) cannot be predicted and could have a material effect on our business and operations.  Numerous changes to the 
statutes, regulations, and regulatory policies applicable to us have been made or proposed in recent years.  Continued efforts to 
monitor and comply with new regulatory requirements add to the complexity and cost of our business and operations.

The Company is subject to regulation and supervision by the Federal Reserve and the Montana Department of Administration’s 
Division of Banking and Financial Institutions (“MT Division of Banking”) and regulation generally by the State of Montana.  The 
Company is also subject to the disclosure and regulatory requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are both administered by the SEC.  The Bank is subject to regulation and supervision by 
the FDIC, the MT Division of  Banking, and, with respect to Bank branches outside of the State of Montana, the respective regulators 
in those states.

Federal and State Bank Holding Company Regulation
General.  The Company is a bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (“BHCA”), due to its 
ownership of and control over the Bank.  As a bank holding company, the Company is subject to regulation, supervision, and 
examination by the Federal Reserve.  Further, because the Bank is a “regional banking organization” under Montana law, the 
Company (as a bank holding company of the Bank) is also subject to regulation, supervision and examination by the MT Division of 
Banking.  In general, the BHCA limits the business of a bank holding company to owning or controlling banks and engaging in, or 
retaining or acquiring shares in a company engaged in, other activities closely related to the business of banking.  In addition, the 
Company must also file reports with and provide additional information to the Federal Reserve.

Holding Company Bank Ownership.  The BHCA requires every bank holding company to obtain the prior approval of the Federal 
Reserve before: 1) acquiring, directly or indirectly, ownership or control of any voting shares of another bank or bank holding 
company if, after such acquisition, it would own or control more than 5 percent of such shares; 2) acquiring all or substantially all of 
the assets of another bank or bank holding company; or 3) merging or consolidating with another bank holding company.

Holding Company Control of Non-banks.  With some exceptions, the BHCA prohibits a bank holding company from acquiring or 
retaining direct or indirect ownership or control of more than 5 percent of the voting shares of any company that is not a bank or bank 
holding company, or from engaging directly or indirectly in activities other than those of banking, managing or controlling banks, or 
providing services for its subsidiaries.  The principal exceptions to these prohibitions involve certain non-bank activities that, by 
federal statute, agency regulation, or order, have been identified as activities closely related to the business of banking or managing or 
controlling banks.

Transactions with Affiliates.  Bank subsidiaries of a bank holding company are subject to restrictions imposed by the Federal Reserve 
Act on extensions of credit to the holding company or its subsidiaries, on investments in securities, and on the use of securities as 
collateral for loans to any borrower.  The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (“Dodd-Frank Act”) 
further extended the definition of an “affiliate” and treats credit exposure arising from derivative transactions, securities lending, and 
borrowing transactions as covered transactions under the regulations.  It also 1) expands the scope of covered transactions required to 
be collateralized; 2) requires collateral to be maintained at all times for covered transactions required to be collateralized; and 3) places 
limits on acceptable collateral.  These regulations and restrictions may limit the Company’s ability to obtain funds from the Bank for 
its cash needs, including funds for payments of dividends, interest, and operational expenses.

Tying Arrangements.  We are also prohibited from engaging in certain tie-in arrangements in connection with any extension of credit, 
sale or lease of property, or furnishing of services. For example, with certain exceptions, we may not condition an extension of credit 
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to a customer on either 1) a requirement that the customer obtain additional services provided by us; or 2) an agreement by the 
customer to refrain from obtaining other services from a competitor.

Support of Bank Subsidiaries.  Under Federal Reserve policy and the Dodd-Frank Act, the Company is required to act as a source of 
financial and managerial strength to the Bank.  This means that the Company is required to commit, as necessary, capital and 
resources to support the Bank, including at times when the Company may not be in a financial position to provide such resources or 
when it may not be in the Company's or its shareholders' best interests to do so.  Any capital loans a bank holding company makes to 
its bank subsidiaries are subordinate to deposits and to certain other indebtedness of the bank subsidiaries.

State Law Restrictions under Corporate Law.  As a Montana corporation, the Company is subject to certain limitations and restrictions 
under applicable Montana corporate law.  For example, Montana corporate law includes limitations and restrictions relating to 
indemnification of directors, distributions to shareholders, transactions involving directors, officers, or interested shareholders, 
maintenance of books, records, and minutes, and observance of certain corporate formalities.

Federal and State Regulation of the Bank
General.  Deposits in the Bank are insured by the FDIC.  The Bank is subject to primary supervision, periodic examination, and 
regulation of the FDIC and the MT Division of Banking.  These agencies have the authority to prohibit the Bank from engaging in 
what they believe constitute unsafe or unsound banking practices.  The federal laws that apply to the Bank regulate, among other 
things, the scope of its business, its investments, its reserves against deposits, the timing of the availability of deposited funds, and the 
nature and amount of and collateral for loans.  Federal laws also regulate community reinvestment and insider credit transactions and 
impose safety and soundness standards.  In addition to federal law and the laws of the State of Montana, with respect to the Bank's 
branches in Idaho, Utah, Washington, Wyoming, Colorado, Arizona and Nevada, the Bank is also subject to the various laws and 
regulations governing its activities in those states.

Consumer Protection.  The Bank is subject to a variety of federal and state consumer protection laws and regulations that govern its 
relationships and interactions with consumers, including laws and regulations that impose certain disclosure requirements and that 
govern the manner in which the Bank takes deposits, makes and collects loans, and provides other services.  In recent years, 
examination and enforcement by federal and state banking agencies for non-compliance with consumer protection laws and 
regulations have increased and become more intense.  Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may subject the Bank to 
various penalties, including but not limited to enforcement actions, injunctions, fines, civil monetary penalties, criminal penalties, 
punitive damages, and the loss of certain contractual rights.  The Bank has established a comprehensive compliance system to ensure 
consumer protection.

Community Reinvestment.  The Community Reinvestment Act of 1977 (“CRA”) requires that, in connection with examinations of 
financial institutions within their jurisdictions, federal bank regulators evaluate the record of financial institutions in meeting the credit 
needs of their local communities, including low and moderate-income neighborhoods, consistent with the safe and sound operation of 
those institutions.  A bank’s community reinvestment record is also considered by the applicable banking agencies in evaluating 
mergers, acquisitions, and applications to open a branch or facility.  In some cases, a bank's failure to comply with the CRA, or CRA 
protests filed by interested parties during applicable comment periods, can result in the denial or delay of such transactions.  The Bank 
received a “satisfactory” rating in its most recent CRA examination.

Insider Credit Transactions.  Banks are subject to certain restrictions on extensions of credit to executive officers, directors, principal 
shareholders, and their related interests.  These extensions of credit 1) must be made on substantially the same terms (including 
interest rates and collateral) and follow credit underwriting procedures that are at least as stringent as those prevailing at the time for 
comparable transactions with persons not related to the lending bank; and 2) must not involve more than the normal risk of repayment 
or present other unfavorable features.  Banks are also subject to certain lending limits and restrictions on overdrafts to insiders.  A 
violation of these restrictions may result in the assessment of substantial civil monetary penalties, regulatory enforcement actions, and 
other regulatory sanctions.  The Dodd-Frank Act and federal regulations place additional restrictions on loans to insiders and generally 
prohibit loans to senior officers other than for certain specified purposes.

Regulation of Management.  Federal law 1) sets forth circumstances under which officers or directors of a bank may be removed by 
the bank's federal supervisory agency; 2) as discussed above, places restraints on lending by a bank to its executive officers, directors, 
principal shareholders, and their related interests; and 3) generally prohibits management personnel of a bank from serving as directors 
or in other management positions of another financial institution whose assets exceed a specified amount or which has an office within 
a specified geographic area.

Safety and Soundness Standards.  Certain non-capital safety and soundness standards are also imposed upon banks.  These standards 
cover, among other things, internal controls, information systems and internal audit systems, loan documentation, credit underwriting, 
interest rate exposure, asset growth, compensation, fees and benefits, such other operational and managerial standards as the agency 
determines to be appropriate, and standards for asset quality, earnings, and stock valuation.  In addition, each insured depository 
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institution must implement a comprehensive written information security program that includes administrative, technical, and physical 
safeguards appropriate to the institution’s size and complexity and the nature and scope of its activities.  The information security 
program must be designed to ensure the security and confidentiality of customer information, protect against unauthorized access to or 
use of such information, and ensure the proper disposal of customer and consumer information.  An institution that fails to meet these 
standards may be required to submit a compliance plan, or be subject to regulatory sanctions, including restrictions on growth.  The 
Bank has established comprehensive policies and risk management procedures to ensure the safety and soundness of the Bank.

Interstate Banking and Branching
The Dodd-Frank Act eliminated interstate branching restrictions that were implemented as part of the Riegle-Neal Interstate Banking 
and Branching Efficiency Act of 1994 ("Interstate Act"), and removed many restrictions on de novo interstate branching by state and 
federally chartered banks.  Federal regulators have authority to approve applications by such banks to establish de novo branches in 
states other than the bank's home state if the host state's banks could establish a branch at the same location.  The Interstate Act 
requires regulators to consult with community organizations before permitting an interstate institution to close a branch in a low-
income area.  Federal bank regulations prohibit banks from using their interstate branches primarily for deposit production and federal 
bank regulatory agencies have implemented a loan-to-deposit ratio screen to ensure compliance with this prohibition.

Dividends
A principal source of the Company’s cash is from dividends received from the Bank, which are subject to regulation and limitation.  
As a general rule, regulatory authorities may prohibit banks and bank holding companies from paying dividends in a manner that 
would constitute an unsafe or unsound banking practice.  For example, regulators have stated that paying dividends that deplete an 
institution's capital base to an inadequate level would be an unsafe and unsound banking practice and that an institution should 
generally pay dividends only out of current operating earnings.  In addition, a bank may not pay cash dividends if that payment could 
reduce the amount of its capital below that necessary to meet minimum applicable regulatory capital requirements.  Current guidance 
from the Federal Reserve provides, among other things, that dividends per share on the Company’s common stock generally should 
not exceed earnings per share, measured over the previous four fiscal quarters.  In certain circumstances, Montana law also places 
limits or restrictions on a bank’s ability to declare and pay dividends.    

Rules adopted in accordance with the third installment of the Basel Accords (“Basel III”) also impose limitations on the Bank's ability 
to pay dividends.  In general, these rules limit the Bank's ability to pay dividends unless the Bank's common equity conservation buffer 
exceeds the minimum required capital ratio by at least 2.5 percent of risk-weighted assets.  

The Federal Reserve has also issued a policy statement on the payment of cash dividends by bank holding companies.  In general, the 
policy statement expresses the view that although no specific regulations restrict dividend payments by bank holding companies other 
than state corporate laws, a bank holding company should not pay cash dividends unless the bank holding company’s earnings for the 
past year are sufficient to cover both the cash dividends and a prospective rate of earnings retention that is consistent with the bank 
holding company’s capital needs, asset quality, and overall financial condition.  A bank holding company's ability to pay dividends 
may also be restricted if a subsidiary bank becomes undercapitalized.  These various regulatory policies may affect our ability to pay 
dividends or otherwise engage in capital distributions.  

The Dodd-Frank Act
General.  The Dodd-Frank Act significantly changed the bank regulatory structure and has affected the lending, deposit, investment, 
trading, and operating activities of banks and bank holding companies.  Some of the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act that may 
impact our business and operations are summarized below. 

Corporate Governance.  The Dodd-Frank Act requires publicly traded companies to provide their shareholders with 1) a non-binding 
shareholder vote on executive compensation; 2) a non-binding shareholder vote on the frequency of such vote; 3) disclosure of 
“golden parachute” arrangements in connection with specified change in control transactions; and 4) a non-binding shareholder vote 
on golden parachute arrangements in connection with these change in control transactions.  The SEC adopted a rule mandated by the 
Dodd-Frank Act that requires a public company to disclose the ratio of the compensation of its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) to the 
median compensation of its employees.  This rule is intended to provide shareholders with information that they can use to evaluate a 
CEO’s compensation.

Prohibition Against Charter Conversions of Financial Institutions.  The Dodd-Frank Act generally prohibits a depository institution 
from converting from a state to federal charter, or vice versa, while it is the subject to an enforcement action unless the depository 
institution seeks prior approval from its primary regulator and complies with specified procedures to ensure compliance with the 
enforcement action.

Repeal of Demand Deposit Interest Prohibition.  The Dodd-Frank Act repealed the federal prohibitions on the payment of interest on 
demand deposits, thereby permitting depository institutions to pay interest on business transaction and other accounts.

9



Consumer Financial Protection Bureau.  The Dodd-Frank Act established the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) and 
empowered it to exercise broad rulemaking, supervision, and enforcement authority for a wide range of consumer protection laws.  
Because our total consolidated assets exceed $10 billion, we are subject to the direct supervision of the CFPB.  The CFPB has issued 
and continues to issue numerous regulations under which we will continue to incur additional expense in connection with our ongoing 
compliance obligations.  Significant recent CFPB developments that may affect operations and compliance costs include:

• positions taken by the CFPB on fair lending, including applying the disparate impact theory which could make it more 
difficult for lenders to charge different rates or to apply different terms to loans to different customers;

• the CFPB's final rule amending Regulation C, which implements the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, requiring most lenders 
to report expanded information in order for the CFPB to more effectively monitor fair lending concerns and other 
information shortcomings identified by the CFPB;

• positions taken by the CFPB regarding the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E, which require companies to 
obtain consumer authorizations before automatically debiting a consumer’s account for pre-authorized electronic funds 
transfers; and 

• focused efforts on enforcing certain compliance obligations the CFPB deems a priority, such as automobile and student loan 
servicing, debt collection, mortgage origination and servicing, remittances, and fair lending, among others.  

Interchange Fees.  Under the Durbin Amendment to the Dodd-Frank Act, the Federal Reserve adopted rules establishing standards for 
assessing whether the interchange fees that may be charged with respect to certain electronic transactions are "reasonable and 
proportional" to the costs incurred by issuers for processing such transactions.  Notably, the Federal Reserve's rules set a maximum 
permissible interchange fee, among other requirements.  Because our total consolidated assets exceeded $10 billion during the first 
quarter of 2018, we became subject to the interchange fee cap beginning July 1, 2019 on a go-forward basis.  

Stress Testing
In May 2018, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act (“EGRRC Act”) was signed into law, which is 
bipartisan legislation that rolled back certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act to provide regulatory relief to certain financial 
institutions.  In relevant part, the EGRRC Act raised the applicability threshold for company-run stress testing required under the 
Dodd-Frank Act by exempting bank holding companies under $100 billion in total assets and raising the asset threshold for covered 
banks from $10 billion to $250 billion.  In November of 2019, the FDIC adopted a final rule to implement these changes.  As a result, 
we are not currently subject to the Dodd-Frank Act stress testing requirements.

Capital Adequacy
Banks and bank holding companies are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by state and federal regulatory 
agencies, which involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet items calculated under regulatory 
guidelines.  Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators about components, risk 
weighting, and other factors.  The capital requirements are intended to ensure that institutions have adequate capital given the risk 
levels of assets and off-balance sheet financial instruments and are applied separately to the Company and the Bank.  

Federal regulations require insured depository institutions and bank holding companies to meet several minimum capital standards, 
including:  1) a common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-based assets ratio of 4.5 percent; 2) a Tier 1 capital to risk-based assets ratio of 6 
percent; 3) a total capital to risk-based assets ratio of 8 percent; and 4) a 4 percent Tier 1 capital to total assets leverage ratio.  These 
minimum capital requirements became effective in January 2015 and were the result of final rules implementing certain regulatory 
amendments based on the recommendation of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and certain requirements of the Dodd-
Frank Act ("Final Rules").   
The Final Rules also require a capital conservation buffer designed to absorb losses during periods of economic stress.  Failure to 
comply with this buffer requirement may result in constraints on capital distributions (e.g., dividends, equity repurchases, and certain 
bonus compensation for executive officers).  The Final Rules change the risk-weights of certain assets for purposes of the risk-based 
capital ratios and phase out certain instruments as qualifying capital.  For additional information regarding trust preferred securities 
and their impact to regulatory capital, see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.”

The Final Rules also contain revisions to the prompt corrective action framework, which is designed to place restrictions on an insured 
depository institution if its capital levels begin to show signs of weakness.  Under the prompt corrective action requirements, which 
are designed to complement the capital conservation buffer, insured depository institutions will be required to meet the following 
increased capital level requirements to qualify as “well capitalized”: 1) a Tier 1 common equity capital ratio of at least 6.5 percent; 
2) a Tier 1 capital ratio of at least 8 percent; 3) a total capital ratio of at least 10 percent; 4) a Tier 1 leverage ratio of at least 5 percent; 
and 5) not be subject to any order or written directive requiring a specific capital level.  The FDIC’s rules (as amended by the Final 
Rules) contain other capital classification categories, such as “adequately capitalized,” “undercapitalized,” “significantly 
undercapitalized,” and “critically undercapitalized,” each of which are based on certain capital ratios.  Undercapitalized institutions are 
subject to certain mandatory restrictions, including on capital distributions and growth.  Significantly undercapitalized and critically 
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undercapitalized institutions are subject to additional restrictions.  An institution may be downgraded to a category lower than 
indicated by its capital ratios if it is determined to be in an unsafe or unsound condition, or if the institution receives an unsatisfactory 
examination rating.

The application of the Final Rules may result in lower returns on invested capital, require the raising of additional capital or require 
regulatory action if the Bank were unable to comply with such requirements.  In addition, management may be required to modify its 
business strategy due to the changes to the asset risk-weights for risk-based capital calculations and the requirement to meet the capital 
conservation buffers.  The imposition of liquidity requirements in connection with these rules could also cause the Bank to increase its 
holdings of liquid assets, change its business strategy, and make other changes to the terms of its funding. 

Regulatory Oversight and Examination
Inspections.  The Federal Reserve conducts periodic inspections of bank holding companies.  In general, the objectives of the Federal 
Reserve's inspection program are to ascertain whether the financial strength of a bank holding company is maintained on an ongoing 
basis and to determine the effects or consequences of transactions between a bank holding company or its non-banking subsidiaries 
and its bank subsidiaries.  The inspection type and frequency typically varies depending on asset size, complexity of the organization, 
and the bank holding company’s rating at its last inspection.

Examinations.  Banks are subject to periodic examinations by their primary regulators.  In assessing a bank's condition, bank 
examinations have evolved from reliance on transaction testing to a risk-focused approach.  These examinations are extensive and 
cover the entire breadth of the operations of a bank.  Generally, safety and soundness examinations occur on an 18-month cycle for 
banks under $3 billion in total assets that are well capitalized and without regulatory issues, and 12-months otherwise.  Examinations 
alternate between the federal and state bank regulatory agencies, and in some cases they may occur on a combined schedule.  The 
frequency of consumer compliance and CRA examinations is linked to the size of the institution and its compliance and CRA ratings 
at its most recent examinations.  However, the examination authority of the Federal Reserve and the FDIC allows them to examine 
supervised institutions as frequently as deemed necessary based on the condition of the institution or as a result of certain triggering 
events.  Because our total consolidated assets exceed $10 billion, we are also subject to the direct supervision of the CFPB.

Commercial Real Estate Ratios.  The federal banking regulators recently issued guidance reminding financial institutions to reexamine 
the existing regulations regarding concentrations in commercial real estate lending.  The purpose of the guidance is to guide banks in 
developing risk management practices and capital levels commensurate with the level and nature of real estate concentrations.  The 
banking regulators are directed to examine each bank’s exposure to commercial real estate loans that are dependent on cash flow from 
the real estate held as collateral and to focus their supervisory resources on institutions that may have significant commercial real 
estate loan concentration risk.  The guidance provides that the strength of an institution’s lending and risk management practices with 
respect to such concentrations will be taken into account in evaluating capital adequacy and does not specifically limit a bank’s 
commercial real estate lending to a specified concentration level.

Corporate Governance and Accounting
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX Act”) addressed, among other things, corporate governance, auditing and accounting, 
enhanced and timely disclosure of corporate information, and penalties for non-compliance.  In general, the SOX Act among other 
matters 1) requires chief executive officers and chief financial officers to certify to the accuracy and completeness of periodic reports 
filed with the SEC and to certain matters relating to disclosure and accounting controls at public companies; 2) imposes specific and 
enhanced corporate disclosure requirements; 3) accelerates the time frame for reporting insider transactions and periodic disclosures 
by public companies; and 4) requires companies to adopt and disclose information about corporate governance practices.  As a 
publicly reporting company with the SEC, the Company is subject to the requirements of the SOX Act and related rules and 
regulations issued by the SEC and NASDAQ. 

Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorism
The Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”) requires all financial institutions to establish a risk-based system of internal controls reasonably 
designed to prevent money laundering and the financing of terrorism.  The BSA also sets forth various recordkeeping and reporting 
requirements (such as reporting suspicious activities that might signal criminal activity) and certain due diligence and "know your 
customer" documentation requirements.

The Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 
(“Patriot Act”), intended to combat terrorism, was renewed with certain amendments in 2006.  In relevant part, the Patriot Act 1) 
prohibits banks from providing correspondent accounts directly to foreign shell banks; 2) imposes due diligence requirements on 
banks opening or holding accounts for foreign financial institutions or wealthy foreign individuals; 3) requires financial institutions to 
establish an anti-money laundering compliance program; and 4) eliminates civil liability for persons who file suspicious activity 
reports.  The Patriot Act also includes provisions providing the government with power to investigate terrorism, including expanded 
government access to bank account records.  Regulators are directed to consider a bank holding company’s and a bank’s effectiveness 
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in combating money laundering when reviewing and ruling on applications under the BHCA and the Bank Merger Act.  We have 
established comprehensive compliance programs designed to comply with the requirements of the BSA and Patriot Act.

Financial Services Modernization
The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Services Modernization Act of 1999 (“GLBA”) brought about significant changes to the laws 
affecting banks and bank holding companies. Generally, the GLBA 1) repeals historical restrictions on preventing banks from 
affiliating with securities firms; 2) provides a uniform framework for the activities of banks, savings institutions, and their holding 
companies; 3) broadens the activities that may be conducted by national banks and banking subsidiaries of bank holding companies; 4) 
provides an enhanced framework for protecting the privacy of consumer information and requires notification to consumers of bank 
privacy policies; and 5) addresses a variety of other legal and regulatory issues affecting both day-to-day operations and long-term 
activities of financial institutions.  The Bank is subject to FDIC regulations implementing the privacy provisions of the GLBA.  These 
regulations require a bank to disclose its privacy policy, including informing consumers of the bank's information sharing practices 
and their right to opt out of certain practices.

Deposit Insurance
FDIC Insured Deposits.  The Bank's deposits are insured under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, up to the maximum applicable 
limits and are subject to deposit insurance assessments by the FDIC, which are designed to tie what banks pay for deposit insurance to 
the risks they pose. The Dodd-Frank Act redefined the assessment base used for calculating deposit insurance assessments by 
requiring the FDIC to determine assessments based on the average consolidated total assets less average tangible equity capital of a 
financial institution.  Under the FDIC’s assessment system for determining payments to the DIF, insured depository institutions with 
more than $10 billion in assets are assessed under a “scorecard” methodology that seeks to capture both the probability that such an 
institution will fail and the magnitude of the impact on the DIF if such a failure occurs.  In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act 1) raised the 
minimum designated reserve ratio (the FDIC is required to set the reserve ratio each year) of the DIF from 1.15 percent to 1.35 
percent; 2) required that the DIF reserve ratio meet 1.35 percent by 2020; and 3) eliminated the requirement that the FDIC pay 
dividends to insured depository institutions when the reserve ratio exceeds certain thresholds.  The Dodd-Frank Act made banks with 
$10 billion or more in total assets responsible for the increase from 1.15 percent to 1.35 percent by imposing a surcharge on those 
institutions.  The surcharge continued through September of 2018 when the DIF reserve ratio reached 1.36 percent, which was ahead 
of the Dodd-Frank Act’s 2020 deadline to meet the 1.35 percent reserve ratio. No institution may pay a dividend if it is in default on 
its federal deposit insurance assessment.  The FDIC may also prohibit any insured institution from engaging in any activity determined 
by regulation or order to pose a serious risk to the DIF.

Safety and Soundness.  The FDIC may terminate the deposit insurance of any insured depository institution if the FDIC determines 
after a hearing that the institution has engaged or is engaging in unsafe or unsound practices, is in an unsafe or unsound condition to 
continue operations, or has violated any applicable law, regulation, order, or any condition imposed by an agreement with the FDIC.  
Management is not aware of any existing circumstances that would result in termination of the Bank's deposit insurance.

Insurance of Deposit Accounts.  The Dodd-Frank Act permanently increased FDIC deposit insurance from $100,000 to $250,000 per 
depositor.  The FDIC insurance coverage limit applies per depositor, per insured depository institution for each account ownership 
category.

Recent and Proposed Legislation
The economic and political environment of the past several years has led to a number of proposed legislative, governmental, and 
regulatory initiatives that may significantly impact the banking industry.  Other regulatory initiatives by federal and state government 
agencies may also significantly impact our business.  We cannot predict whether these or any other proposals will be enacted or the 
ultimate impact of any such initiatives on our operations, competitive situation, financial conditions, or results of operations.  Recent 
history has demonstrated that new legislation or changes to existing laws or regulations typically result in a greater compliance burden 
(and therefore increase the general costs of doing business), and the new administration under President Biden has demonstrated a 
general intent to regulate the financial services industry more strictly than the administration of his predecessor.

Effects of Federal Government Monetary Policy
The Company’s earnings and growth are affected not only by general economic conditions, but also by the fiscal and monetary 
policies of the federal government, particularly the Federal Reserve.  The Federal Reserve implements national monetary policy to 
promote maximum employment, stable prices, and moderate long-term interest rates.  Through its open market operations in U.S. 
government securities, control of the discount rate applicable to borrowings, establishment of reserve requirements against certain 
deposits, and control of the interest rate applicable to excess reserve balances and reverse repurchase agreements, the Federal Reserve 
influences the availability and cost of money and credit and, ultimately, a range of economic variables including employment, output, 
and the prices of goods and services.  The nature and impact of future changes in monetary policies and their impact on us cannot be 
predicted with certainty.
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Heightened Requirements for Large Bank Holding Companies and Banks
As mentioned above, the Dodd-Frank Act imposed heightened requirements on large bank holding companies and banks, and the 
EGRRC Act has rolled back certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act.  In particular, the EGRRC Act increased the asset threshold for 
certain rules that previously applied to bank holding companies and banks with at least $10 billion in total consolidated assets.  As a 
result of the EGRRC Act and follow-up rules, we are not currently subject to several of those heightened requirements (e.g., stress 
testing and a dedicated risk committee), but we will remain subject to other requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act left unaffected by the 
EGRRC Act, such as the requirement that we be examined, primarily by the CFPB, for compliance with federal consumer protection 
laws.  We have established a comprehensive compliance system to ensure compliance with these rules.

COVID-19 Legislation and Regulation
Governments at the federal, state, and local levels continue to take steps to address the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.  On 
March 27, 2020, the historic $2 trillion federal stimulus package known as the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act 
(the “CARES Act”) was signed into law, which included $350 billion in stimulus for small businesses under the so-called Paycheck 
Protection Program (“PPP”), along with direct stimulus payments (i.e., “economic impact payments” or “stimulus payments”) for 
many eligible Americans. The initial amounts available under the Paycheck Protection Program were quickly exhausted in less than 
two weeks, which prompted Congress to negotiate additional funding. On April 24, 2020, the Paycheck Protection Program and 
Health Care Enforcement Act was signed into law to replenish funding to the Paycheck Protection Program and to provide other 
spending for hospitals and virus testing.  Further, on July 3, 2020, the President extended the deadline for potential borrowers to apply 
for Paycheck Protection Program funds until August 8, 2020. And recently, on December 21, 2020, Congress passed the Consolidated 
Appropriations Act, which was signed into law by the President on December 27th, and included another $284 billion to fund an 
expansion to the PPP, subject to certain changes in eligibility requirements and program design. The Bank is taking additional loan 
applications, and making new loans, under the program, as most recently updated. The legislative and regulatory landscape 
surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic is rapidly changing, and neither the Company nor the Bank can predict with certainty the impact 
it will have on our operations or business.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

The following is a discussion of what we believe are the most significant risks and uncertainties that may affect our business, financial 
condition and future results of operations. These risks are not the only ones that we face. Other risks and uncertainties not currently 
known to us or currently believed to be material may harm our future business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Economy and Our Markets

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic could adversely affect our customers’ future results of operations and/or the market 
price of our stock.
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to rapidly evolve, as do federal, state and local efforts to address it.  Both the direct effects of the 
pandemic and the resulting U.S. governmental responses are of an unprecedented scope as it impacts both the health and the economy 
of our country and the world at large.  No one can predict the extent or duration of the pandemic, or its effect on the markets that we 
serve.  Further, the ongoing efforts and impact of the government in mitigating the health and the economic effects of the pandemic 
cannot currently be predicted, whether on our business or as to the economy as a whole. The pandemic has thus far resulted in 
significant volatility in international and U.S. markets, which could adversely affect the market price of our stock. To date, the 
pandemic has resulted in significant business disruption and volatility in the international and domestic markets, which has led to 
increased volatility in the market price of our stock and stocks in general.

The Company believes it is well positioned to mitigate the potential financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic with a strong 
liquidity and capital position.  The Company has implemented several measures to manage through the pandemic, including:

• launched a pandemic team that addresses the daily impact to our business; 
• proactively reaching out to, and working with customers, to assess their needs and provide funding, flexible repayment 

options or modifications as necessary;
• designated a “command center” that supports employees so they can work with customers to provide the PPP loans;
• increased monitoring of credit quality and portfolio risk for industries determined to have elevated risk; and
• developed safety measures for the health of our employees including elimination of unnecessary business travel, social 

distancing precautions, additional wellness and education programs, and preventative cleaning practices.

Nonetheless, any future deterioration in economic conditions in the markets the Bank serves as a consequence of the pandemic, or a 
failure of the economy to recover from pandemic related disruptions as quickly as anticipated, could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 
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Economic conditions in the market areas the Bank serves may adversely impact its earnings and could increase the credit risk 
associated with its loan portfolio and the value of its investment portfolio.
Substantially all of the Bank’s loans are to businesses and individuals in Montana, Idaho, Utah, Washington, Wyoming, Colorado, 
Arizona and Nevada, and a softening of the economies in these market areas could have a material adverse effect on its business, 
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.  Any future deterioration in economic conditions in the markets the Bank 
serves could result in the following consequences, any of which could have an adverse impact, which could be material, on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects:

• loan delinquencies may increase;
• problem assets and foreclosures may increase;
• collateral for loans made may decline in value, in turn reducing customers’ borrowing power;
• certain securities within the investment portfolio could become other-than-temporarily impaired, requiring a write-down 

through earnings to fair value, thereby reducing equity;
• low cost or non-interest bearing deposits may decrease; and
• demand for loan and other products and services may decrease.

National and international economic and geopolitical conditions could adversely affect our future results of operations or 
market price of our stock.
Our business is impacted by factors such as economic, political and market conditions, broad trends in industry and finance, changes 
in government monetary and fiscal policies, inflation, and financial market volatility, all of which are beyond our control. National and 
global economies are constantly in flux, as evidenced by recent market volatility resulting from, among other things, global trade 
disputes and the associated imposition of tariffs in certain cases, the uncertain future relationship of the United Kingdom with the 
European Union (e.g., Brexit), and the ever-changing landscape of the energy and medical industries. Future economic conditions 
cannot be predicted, and any renewed deterioration in the economies of the nation as a whole or in our markets could have an adverse 
effect, which could be material, on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, and could cause the market 
price of our stock to decline. 

Competition in the Bank’s market areas may limit future success.
Commercial banking is a highly competitive business and a consolidating industry.  The Bank competes with other commercial banks, 
credit unions, finance, insurance and other non-depository companies operating in its market areas.  The Bank is subject to substantial 
competition for loans and deposits from other financial institutions.  Some of its competitors are not subject to the same degree of 
regulation and restriction as the Bank while others have greater financial resources than the Bank.  If the Bank is unable to effectively 
compete in its market areas, the Bank’s business, our results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected.

We may not be able to continue to grow organically or through acquisitions.
Historically, we have expanded through a combination of organic growth and acquisitions. If market and regulatory conditions change, 
we may be unable to grow organically or successfully compete for, complete, or integrate potential future acquisitions at the same 
pace. We have historically used our strong stock currency and capital resources to complete acquisitions. Downturns in the stock 
market and the market price of our stock could have an impact on future acquisitions. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that we 
can successfully complete such transactions, since they are subject to regulatory review and approval.

Growth through future acquisitions could, in some circumstances, adversely affect profitability or other performance 
measures.
In the past, we have been active in acquiring banks and we may in the future engage in selected acquisitions of additional financial 
institutions. There are risks associated with any such acquisitions that could adversely affect profitability and other performance 
measures.  These risks include, among other things, incorrectly assessing the asset quality of a financial institution being acquired, 
discovering compliance or regulatory issues after the acquisition, encountering greater than anticipated cost and use of management 
time associated with integrating acquired businesses into our operations, and being unable to profitably deploy funds acquired in an 
acquisition. We may not be able to continue to grow through acquisitions, and if we do, there is a risk of negative impacts of such 
acquisitions on our operating results and financial condition.

Acquisitions may also cause business disruptions that cause the Bank to lose customers or cause customers to remove their accounts 
from the Bank and move to competing financial institutions. Further, acquisitions may also disrupt the Bank's ongoing businesses or 
create inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures, and policies that adversely affect relationships with employees, clients, 
customers, and depositors. The loss of key employees during acquisitions may also adversely affect our business. 

We anticipate that we might issue capital stock in connection with future acquisitions.  Acquisitions and related issuances of stock 
may have a dilutive effect on earnings per share, book value per share, and the percentage ownership of current shareholders.  In 
acquisitions involving the use of cash as consideration, there will be an impact on our capital position. 
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If goodwill recorded in connection with acquisitions becomes impaired, it could have an adverse impact on earnings and 
capital.
Accounting standards require us to account for acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting.  Under acquisition accounting, 
if the purchase price of an acquired company exceeds the fair value of its net assets, the excess is carried on the acquirer’s balance 
sheet as goodwill.  In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), goodwill 
is not amortized but rather is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that a 
potential impairment exists.  Our goodwill was not considered impaired as of December 31, 2020 and 2019; however, there can be no 
assurance that future evaluations of goodwill will not result in findings of impairment and write-downs, which could be material.  
Since we have $514 million in goodwill, representing 22 percent of our stockholders' equity, impairment of goodwill could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  Furthermore, even though it is a non-cash item, 
significant impairment of goodwill could subject us to regulatory limitations, including the ability to pay dividends on our common 
stock.

There can be no assurance we will be able to continue paying dividends on our common stock at recent levels.
We may not be able to continue paying quarterly dividends commensurate with recent levels given that our ability to pay dividends on 
our common stock depends on a variety of factors.  The payment of dividends is subject to government regulation in that regulatory 
authorities may prohibit banks and bank holding companies from paying dividends that would constitute an unsafe or unsound 
banking practice.  This is heavily based on our earnings and capital levels which currently are strong. Current guidance from the 
Federal Reserve provides, among other things, that dividends per share should not exceed earnings per share measured over the 
previous four fiscal quarters.  In certain circumstances, Montana law also places limits or restrictions on a bank’s ability to declare and 
pay dividends.  As a result, our future dividends will generally depend on the level of earnings at the Bank.

Credit and Asset Quality

The allowance for credit losses may not be adequate to cover actual loan losses, which could adversely affect earnings.
The Bank maintains an allowance for credit losses (“ACL” or “allowance”) in an amount that it believes is adequate to provide for 
losses in the loan portfolio.  While the Bank strives to carefully manage and monitor credit quality and to identify loans that may 
become non-performing, at any time there are loans included in the portfolio that will result in losses, but that have not been identified 
as non-performing or potential problem loans.  With respect to real estate loans and property taken in satisfaction of such loans (“other 
real estate owned” or “OREO”), the Bank can be required to recognize significant declines in the value of the underlying real estate 
collateral quite suddenly as values are updated through appraisals and evaluations (new or updated) performed in the normal course of 
monitoring the credit quality of the loans.  There are many factors that can cause the value of real estate to decline, including declines 
in the general real estate market, changes in methodology applied by appraisers, and/or using a different appraiser than was used for 
the prior appraisal or evaluation.  The Bank’s ability to recover on real estate loans by selling or disposing of the underlying real estate 
collateral is adversely impacted by declining values, which increases the likelihood the Bank will suffer losses on defaulted loans 
beyond the amounts provided for in the ACL.  This, in turn, could require material increases in the Bank’s provision for credit losses 
and ACL.  By closely monitoring credit quality, the Bank attempts to identify deteriorating loans before they become non-performing 
assets and adjust the ACL accordingly.  However, because future events are uncertain, and if difficult economic conditions occur, 
there may be loans that deteriorate to a non-performing status in an accelerated time frame.  As a result, future additions to the ACL 
may be necessary beyond the levels commensurate with any loan growth.  Because the loan portfolio contains a number of loans with 
relatively large balances, the deterioration of one or a few of these loans may cause a significant increase in non-performing loans, 
requiring an increase to the ACL.  Additionally, future significant additions to the ACL may be required based on changes in the mix 
of loans comprising the portfolio, changes in the financial condition of borrowers, which may result from changes in economic 
conditions, or changes in the assumptions used in determining the ACL.  Additionally, federal and state banking regulators, as an 
integral part of their supervisory function, periodically review the Bank’s loan portfolio and the adequacy of the ACL.  These 
regulatory authorities may require the Bank to recognize further provision for credit losses or charge-offs based upon their judgments, 
which may be different from the Bank’s judgments.  Any increase in the ACL could have an adverse effect, which could be material, 
on our financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank’s loan portfolio mix increases the exposure to credit risks tied to deteriorating conditions.
The loan portfolio contains a high percentage of commercial, commercial real estate, real estate acquisition and development loans in 
relation to the total loans and total assets.  These types of loans have historically been viewed as having more risk of default than 
residential real estate loans or certain other types of loans or investments.  In fact, the FDIC has issued pronouncements alerting banks 
of its concern about banks with a heavy concentration of commercial real estate loans.  These types of loans also typically are larger 
than residential real estate loans and other commercial loans.  Because the Bank’s loan portfolio contains a significant number of 
commercial and commercial real estate loans with relatively large balances, the deterioration of one or more of these loans may cause 
a significant increase in non-performing loans.  An increase in non-performing loans could result in a loss of earnings from these 
loans, an increase in the provision for credit losses, or an increase in charge-offs, which could have a material adverse impact on our 
results of operations and financial condition.
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The Bank has a high concentration of loans secured by real estate, so any future deterioration in the real estate markets could 
require material increases in the ACL and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
The Bank has a high degree of concentration in loans secured by real estate.  Any future deterioration in the real estate markets could 
adversely impact borrowers’ ability to repay loans secured by real estate and the value of real estate collateral, thereby increasing the 
credit risk associated with the loan portfolio.  The Bank’s ability to recover on these loans by selling or disposing of the underlying 
real estate collateral would be adversely impacted by any decline in real estate values, which increases the likelihood that the Bank 
will suffer losses on defaulted loans secured by real estate beyond the amounts provided for in the ACL.  This, in turn, could require 
material increases in the ACL which would adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Non-performing assets could increase, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
The Bank may experience increases in non-performing assets in the future.  Non-performing assets (which include OREO) adversely 
affect our financial condition and results of operations in various ways.  The Bank does not record interest income on non-accrual 
loans or OREO, thereby adversely affecting its earnings.  When the Bank takes collateral in foreclosures and similar proceedings, it is 
required to mark the related asset to the then fair value of the collateral, less estimated cost to sell, which may result in a charge-off of 
the value of the asset and lead the Bank to increase the provision for credit losses.  An increase in the level of non-performing assets 
also increases the Bank’s risk profile and may impact the capital levels its regulators believe are appropriate in light of such risks.  
Further decreases in the value of these assets, or the underlying collateral, or in these borrowers’ performance or financial condition, 
whether or not due to economic and market conditions beyond the Bank’s control, could adversely affect our business, results of 
operations and financial condition, perhaps materially.  In addition to the carrying costs to maintain OREO, the resolution of non-
performing assets increases the Bank’s loan administration costs generally, and requires significant commitments of time from 
management and our directors, which reduces the time they have to focus on profitably growing our business.  

A decline in the fair value of the Bank’s investment portfolio could adversely affect earnings and capital.
The fair value of the Bank’s debt securities could decline as a result of factors including changes in market interest rates, tax reform, 
credit quality and credit ratings, lack of market liquidity and other economic conditions.  For debt securities in an unrealized loss 
position, the Company may be required to record an allowance for credit losses or write down the security depending on the type of 
security and the circumstances.  Any such impairment charge would have an adverse effect, which could be material, on our results of 
operations and financial condition, including its capital.

While we believe that the terms of our debt securities have been kept relatively short, we are subject to elevated interest rate risk 
exposure if rates were to increase sharply.  Further, debt securities present a different type of asset quality risk than the loan portfolio.   
While we believe a relatively conservative management approach has been applied to the investment portfolio, there is always 
potential loss exposure under changing economic conditions.  

The Bank is subject to environmental liability risk associated with our lending activities.
A significant portion of our loan portfolio is secured by real estate, and we could become subject to environmental liabilities with 
respect to one or more of these properties. During the ordinary course of business, we may foreclose on and take title to properties 
securing defaulted loans. In doing so, there is a risk that hazardous or toxic substances could be found on these properties. If hazardous 
conditions or toxic substances are found on these properties, we may be liable for remediation costs, as well as for personal injury and 
property damage, civil fines and criminal penalties regardless of when the hazardous conditions or toxic substances first affected any 
particular property. Environmental laws may require us to incur substantial expenses to address unknown liabilities and may 
materially reduce the affected property’s value or limit our ability to use or sell the affected property. In addition, future laws or more 
stringent interpretations or enforcement policies with respect to existing laws may increase our exposure to environmental liability. 
Although we have policies and procedures to perform an environmental review before initiating any foreclosure on nonresidential real 
property, these reviews may not be sufficient to detect all potential environmental hazards. The remediation costs and any other 
financial liabilities associated with an environmental hazard could have a material adverse effect on us.

We face competition from technologies used to support and enable banking and financial services.
Emerging technologies and advances and the growth of e-commerce have lowered geographic and monetary barriers of other financial 
institutions, made it easier for non-depository institutions to offer products and services that traditionally were banking products and 
allowed non-traditional financial service providers and technology companies to compete with traditional financial service companies 
in providing electronic and internet-based financial solutions and services, including electronic securities trading, marketplace lending, 
financial data aggregation and payment processing, including real-time payment platforms. Further, clients may choose to conduct 
business with other market participants who engage in business or offer products in areas we deem speculative or risky, such as 
cryptocurrencies. Increased competition may negatively affect our earnings by creating pressure to lower prices or credit standards on 
our products and services requiring additional investment to improve the quality and delivery of our technology and/or reducing our 
market share, or affecting the willingness of our clients to do business with us.

16



Interest Rates, Operations and Risk Management 

Fluctuating interest rates can adversely affect profitability.
The Bank’s profitability is dependent to a large extent upon net interest income, which is the difference (or “spread”) between the 
interest earned on loans, investment securities and other interest earning assets and interest paid on deposits, borrowings, and other 
interest bearing liabilities.  Because of the differences in maturities and repricing characteristics of interest earning assets and interest 
bearing liabilities, changes in interest rates do not produce equivalent changes in interest income earned on interest earning assets and 
interest paid on interest bearing liabilities.  Accordingly, fluctuations in interest rates could adversely affect the Bank’s interest rate 
spread, and, in turn, profitability.  The Bank seeks to manage its interest rate risk within well established policies and guidelines.  
Generally, the Bank seeks an asset and liability structure that insulates net interest income from large deviations attributable to 
changes in market rates.  However, the Bank’s structures and practices to manage interest rate risk may not be effective in a highly 
volatile rate environment.  While the Federal Reserve increased the federal funds target range seven times in 2017 and 2018, the target 
rate was decreased three times in 2019 and 2020 saw a return to target rates at or near historical lows as part of the fiscal response to 
the pandemic.  

We may be impacted by the retirement of London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as a reference rate.
In July 2017, the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority announced that LIBOR may no longer be published after 2021. 
LIBOR is used extensively in the U.S and globally as a “benchmark” or “reference rate” for various commercial and financial 
contracts.  In response, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (“ARRC”), made up of financial and capital market institutions, 
was convened to address the replacement of LIBOR in the U.S. The ARRC identified a potential successor to LIBOR in the Secured 
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) and crafted a plan to facilitate the transition.  However, there are significant conceptual and 
technical differences between LIBOR and SOFR. The Financial Stability Oversight Committee has stated that the end or waning use 
of LIBOR has the potential to significantly disrupt trading in many important types of financial contracts. 

At this time, no consensus exists as to what rate or rates may become acceptable alternatives to LIBOR and it is impossible to predict 
the effect of any such alternatives on the value of LIBOR-based securities and variable rate loans, subordinated debentures or other 
securities or financial arrangements. The replacement of LIBOR with one or more alternative rates may impact the availability and 
cost of hedging instruments and borrowings, including the rates we pay on our subordinated debentures and derivative financial 
instruments. If LIBOR rates are no longer available, and we are required to implement substitute indices for the calculation of interest 
rates under contracts or financial instruments to which we are a party, we may incur significant expenses in effecting the transition. 

Our business is heavily dependent on the services of members of the senior management team.
We believe our success to date has been substantially dependent on its executive management team. In addition, our unique model 
relies upon the Presidents of our separate Bank divisions, particularly in light of our decentralized management structure in which such 
Bank divisions have significant local decision-making authority. The unexpected loss of any of these persons could have an adverse 
effect on our business and future growth prospects.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, floods, fires, and other natural catastrophes.
With Bank branches located in Montana, Idaho, Utah, Washington, Wyoming, Colorado, Arizona and Nevada, our business could be 
affected by a major natural catastrophe, such as a fire, flood, earthquake, or other natural disaster.  The occurrence of any of these 
events may result in a prolonged interruption of our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition 
and operations.

Our future performance will depend on our ability to respond timely to technological change.
The financial services industry is experiencing rapid technological changes with frequent introductions of new technology-driven 
products and services.  The effective use of technology increases efficiency and enables financial institutions to better serve customers 
and to reduce costs.  Our future success will depend upon our ability to address the needs of our customers by using technology to 
provide products and services that will satisfy customer demands for convenience, as well as create additional efficiencies in our 
operations.  We may not be able to effectively implement new technology-driven products or services, or be successful in marketing 
these products and services. Additionally, the implementation of technological changes and upgrades to maintain current systems and 
integrate new ones may cause services interruptions, transaction processing errors and system conversion delays and may cause us to 
fail to comply with applicable laws.  There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully manage the risks associated with 
increased dependency on technology. 

A failure in or breach of the Bank’s operational or security systems, or those of the Bank’s third party service providers, 
including as a result of cyber attacks, could disrupt business, result in the disclosure or misuse of confidential or proprietary 
information, damage our reputation, increase costs and cause losses.
In the normal course of its business, the Bank collects, processes and retains sensitive and confidential customer information. Despite 
the security measures we have in place, our facilities may be vulnerable to cyber-attacks, security breaches, acts of vandalism, 
computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming or human errors, and other similar events. 
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Information security risks for financial institutions such as the Bank have increased recently in part because of new technologies, the 
use of the Internet and telecommunications technologies, including mobile devises, to conduct financial and other business 
transactions and the increased sophistication and activities of organized crime, perpetrators of fraud, hackers, terrorists and others. In 
addition to cyber attacks or other security breaches involving the theft of sensitive and confidential information, hackers have engaged 
in attacks against financial institutions designed to disrupt key business services such as customer-facing web sites.  We are not able to 
anticipate or implement effective preventative measures against all security breaches of these types.  Although the Bank employs 
detection and response mechanisms designed to contain and mitigate security incidents, early detection may be thwarted by 
sophisticated attacks and malware designed to avoid detection, which continue to evolve.  

Additionally, the Bank faces the risk of operational disruption, failure, termination or capacity constraints of any of the third parties 
that facilitate its business activities, including exchanges, clearing agents, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries.  Such 
parties could also be the source of an attack on, or breach of, the Bank’s operational systems. 

Any failures, interruptions or security breaches in the Bank’s information systems could damage its reputation, result in a loss of 
customer business, result in a violation of privacy or other laws, or expose us to civil litigation, regulatory fines or losses not covered 
by insurance.  

We could suffer operational, reputational and financial harm if we fail to properly anticipate and manage risk.
We use models and strategies to forecast losses, project revenue, measure and assess capital requirements for credit, market, 
operational and strategic risks, and assess and control our operations and financial condition. These models require oversight, ongoing 
monitoring, and periodic reassessment.  Models are subject to inherent limitations due to the use of historical trends and simplifying 
assumptions, uncertainty regarding economic and financial outcomes, and emerging risks from the use of applications that may rely on 
artificial intelligence.  Our models and strategies may not be adequate due to limited historical data and shocks caused by extreme or 
unanticipated market changes, especially during severe market downturns or stress events. Regardless of the steps we take to ensure 
effective controls, governance, monitoring and testing, and implement new risk management tools, we could suffer operational, 
reputational and financial harm if our models and strategies and other risk management tools fail to properly anticipate and manage 
current and evolving risks.

We have various anti-takeover measures that could impede a takeover.
Our articles of incorporation include certain provisions that could make it more difficult to acquire us by means of a tender offer, a 
proxy contest, merger or otherwise.  These provisions include a requirement that any “Business Combination” (as defined in the 
articles of incorporation) be approved by at least 80 percent of the voting power of the then outstanding shares, unless it is either 
approved by our Board or certain price and procedural requirements are satisfied.  In addition, the authorization of preferred stock, 
which is intended primarily as a financing tool and not as a defensive measure against takeovers, may potentially be used by 
management to make more difficult uninvited attempts to acquire control of us.  These provisions may have the effect of lengthening 
the time required to acquire control of us through a tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise, and may deter any potentially unfriendly 
offers or other efforts to obtain control of us.  This could deprive our shareholders of opportunities to realize a premium for their 
common stock in the Company, even in circumstances where such action is favored by a majority of our shareholders.

Regulatory Matters

We are subject to heightened regulatory requirements related to our having exceeded $10 billion in assets.
Because our total consolidated assets exceeded $10 billion during the first quarter of 2018, the Dodd-Frank Act and its implementing 
regulations impose additional requirements on bank holding companies with $10 billion or more in total assets, including compliance 
with specific sections of the Federal Reserve's prudential oversight requirements. The Durbin Amendment, which was passed as part 
of the Dodd-Frank Act, instructed the Federal Reserve to establish rules limiting the amount of interchange fees that can be charged to 
merchants for debit card processing.  The Federal Reserve's Final rules contained several key pieces, including in relevant part an 
interchange fee cap, certain fraud prevention adjustments, and, most notably, an exemption from the interchange fee cap for small 
issuers.  Issuers with less than $10 billion in total assets (as of the end of the previous calendar year) are exempt from the Federal 
Reserve's interchange fee cap.  As our total assets exceeded $10 billion, the interchange fee cap of the Durbin Amendment negatively 
affected the interchange income the Bank receives from electronic payment transactions. The interchange fee cap became effective to 
us commencing in July of 2019.

In addition, banks with $10 billion or more in total assets are primarily examined by the CFPB with respect to compliance with 
various federal consumer financial protection laws and regulations.  As a fairly new agency with evolving regulations and practices, it 
is uncertain as to how the CFPB's examinations and regulatory authority may impact our business.

Changes in accounting standards could materially impact our financial statements.
Periodically, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) and the SEC change the financial accounting and reporting 
standards that govern the preparation of our financial statements.  These changes can materially impact how we record and report our 
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financial condition and results of operations.  For information regarding the impact of recently issued accounting standards, see “Item 
7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

The FDIC has adopted a final rule to increase the federal Deposit Insurance Fund, including additional future premium 
increases and special assessments.
On March 15, 2016, the FDIC adopted a final rule to increase insurance premiums and has imposed special assessments to rebuild and 
maintain the DIF, and any additional future premium increases or special assessments could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, and results of operations.  

The Dodd-Frank Act broadened the base for FDIC insurance assessments.  In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act established 1.35 percent 
as the minimum DIF reserve ratio. The FDIC has determined that the fund reserve ratio should be 2.0 percent (which is beyond what is 
required by law) and has adopted a plan under which it will meet the statutory minimum fund reserve ratio of 1.35 percent.  The Dodd-
Frank Act made banks with $10 billion or more in total assets responsible for the increase from 1.15 percent to 1.35 percent.  The 
increase is effective for banks in the first quarter following four consecutive quarters of total consolidated assets exceeding $10 billion.  
Since the Bank exceeded the $10 billion asset threshold in the first quarter of 2018, the increase in deposit insurance assessments to be 
paid by the Bank was effective in the first quarter of 2019.  Additionally, under the FDIC’s assessment system for determining 
payments to the DIF, insured depository institutions with more than $10 billion in assets are assessed under a “scorecard” system. 

Additional information regarding this matter is set forth under the section captioned “Deposit Insurance” within “Supervision and 
Regulation” in “Item 1. Business.”

We operate in a highly regulated environment and changes or increases in, or supervisory enforcement of, banking or other 
laws and regulations or governmental fiscal or monetary policies could adversely affect us.
We are subject to extensive regulation, supervision and examination by federal and state banking regulators.  In addition, as a 
publicly-traded company, we are subject to regulation by the SEC.  Any change in applicable regulations or federal, state or local 
legislation or in policies or interpretations or regulatory approaches to compliance and enforcement, income tax laws and accounting 
principles could have a substantial impact on us and our operations.  Changes in laws and regulations may also increase expenses by 
imposing additional fees or taxes or restrictions on operations.  Additional legislation and regulations that could significantly affect 
powers, authority and operations may be enacted or adopted in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition and results of operations.  Failure to appropriately comply with any such laws, regulations or principles could result in 
sanctions by regulatory agencies or damage to our reputation, all of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or 
results of operations.

Regulators have significant discretion and authority to prevent or remedy unsafe or unsound practices or violations of laws or 
regulations by financial institutions and bank holding companies in the performance of their supervisory and enforcement duties. 
Existing and proposed federal and state laws and regulations restrict, limit and govern all aspects of our activities and may affect our 
ability to expand our business over time, may result in an increase in our compliance costs, and may affect our ability to attract and 
retain qualified executive officers and employees.  The exercise of regulatory authority may have a negative impact on our financial 
condition and results of operations, including limiting the types of financial services and products we may offer or increasing the 
ability of non-banks to offer competing financial services and products. Additionally, our business is affected significantly by the 
fiscal and monetary policies of the federal government and its agencies, including the Federal Reserve. 

We cannot accurately predict the full effects of recent legislation or the various other governmental, regulatory, monetary and fiscal 
initiatives which have been and may be enacted on the financial markets and on us. The terms and costs of these activities, or the 
failure of these actions to help stabilize the financial markets, asset prices, market liquidity and a continuation or worsening of current 
financial market and economic conditions could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, 
and the trading price of our common stock.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion is intended to provide a more comprehensive review of the Company’s operating results and financial 
condition than can be obtained from reading the Consolidated Financial Statements alone. The discussion should be read in 
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.”

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995.  These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about the Company’s plans, 
objectives, expectations and intentions that are not historical facts, and other statements identified by words such as “expects,” 
“anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “should,” “projects,” “seeks,” “estimates”, or the negative version of those words or other 
comparable words or phrases of a future or forward-looking nature.  These forward-looking statements are based on current beliefs 
and expectations of management and are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and 
contingencies, many of which are beyond the Company’s control.  In addition, these forward-looking statements are subject to 
assumptions with respect to future business strategies and decisions that are subject to change.  The following factors, among others, 
could cause actual results to differ materially from the anticipated results (express or implied) or other expectations in the forward-
looking statements, including those factors set forth under “Risk Factors” and in other sections in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
or the documents incorporated by reference:

• the risks associated with lending and potential adverse changes of the credit quality of loans in the Company’s portfolio;
• changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies and laws, including interest rate policies of the Board of Governors of the 

Federal Reserve System, which could adversely affect the Company’s net interest income and profitability;
• changes in the cost and scope of insurance from the FDIC and other third parties;
• the scope, duration, and effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including on the Company’s credit quality and operations as 

well as its impact on general economic conditions;
• legislative or regulatory changes, including actions taken by governmental authorities in response to the COVID-19 

pandemic;
• ability to complete prospective future acquisitions;
• costs or difficulties related to the completion and integration of acquisitions;
• the goodwill the Company has recorded in connection with acquisitions could become impaired, which may have an adverse 

impact on earnings and capital;
• changes in interest rates, deposit flows, costs of funds, demand for loan products and the demand for financial services in 

each case as may be further affected by the COVID-19 pandemic;
• the reputation of banks and the financial services industry could deteriorate, which could adversely affect the Company's 

ability to obtain and maintain customers;
• competition among financial institutions in the Company's markets may increase significantly, including due to the entry of 

new participants that rely on emerging technologies to make loans and acquire deposits which may not be as heavily 
regulated as we are;

• the risks presented by continued public stock market volatility, which could adversely affect the market price of the 
Company’s common stock and the ability to grow the Company through acquisitions or raise capital in the future;

• the projected business and profitability of an expansion or the opening of a new branch could be lower than expected;
• consolidation in the financial services industry in the Company’s markets resulting in larger financial institutions with greater 

resources and decreasing opportunities to pursue acquisitions;
• dependence on the CEO, the senior management team and the Presidents of Glacier Bank divisions; 
• material failure, potential interruption or breach in security of the Company’s systems or those of our vendors and 

technological changes or changes in actors and techniques used by cyber criminals which could expose us to new risks (e.g., 
cybersecurity), fraud or system failures; 

• natural disasters, including fires, floods, earthquakes, and other unexpected events;
• the Company’s success in managing risks involved in the foregoing; and
• the effects of any reputational damage to the Company resulting from any of the foregoing.

Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements are 
discussed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”  Please take into account that forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K (or documents incorporated by reference, if applicable).  Given the described uncertainties and risks, the 
Company cannot guarantee its future performance or results of operations and you should not place undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements.  The Company does not undertake any obligation to publicly correct, revise, or update any forward-looking 
statement if it later becomes aware that actual results are likely to differ materially from those expressed in such forward-looking 
statement, except as required under federal securities laws.
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 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 COMPARED TO DECEMBER 31, 2019 

Highlights and Overview
The Company’s oversight of strategy was salient following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.  The Company worked diligently to 
assess the impact of the pandemic on all facets of the Company, examining financial impacts, the ability to meet customer needs, the 
effect of regulatory actions to combat the pandemic on our operations, measures taken to protect the health and safety of our 
employees and customers and our business continuity strategy. The Company remained engaged on each of these initiatives 
throughout the year by receiving regular updates from management and providing input and oversight. Through continuous 
monitoring, the Company was able to take actions to ensure that disruptions to customers were minimal while preventing any 
furloughs, layoffs, or reductions in compensation for our employees. 

In order to meet the needs of its customers impacted by the pandemic, the Company provided funding, flexible repayment options or 
modifications if necessary.  During the year, the Company modified 3,054 loans in the amount of $1.515 billion primarily with short-
term payment deferrals under six months.  As of year end, only $94.9 million of the modifications remain in the deferral period.  In 
addition, the Company originated Small Business Association (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loans for small 
businesses in its communities.  The Company originated 16,090 PPP in the amount of $1.472 billion during the current year of which 
$539 million, or 37 percent, were forgiven by the SBA during the year.  In the coming year, the Company will continue to remain 
flexible in responding to changing conditions due to COVD-19 in the markets it serves and remains optimistic it can continue to 
deliver profitable results.

During 2020, the Company acquired all the outstanding stock of SBAZ, a community bank based in Lake Havasu City, Arizona with 
total assets of $745 million.  SBAZ provides banking services to individuals and business in Arizona with ten locations in Bullhead 
City, Cottonwood, Kingman, Lake Havasu City, Phoenix, Prescott Valley and Prescott. Upon closing of the transaction, SBAZ was 
merged into the Company’s Foothills Bank division, which expanded the Company’s footprint in Arizona to cover all major markets 
and established it as a leading community bank in Arizona. See Note 23 in the Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information regarding these acquisitions.

The Company ended the year at $18.504 billion in assets, which was a 35 percent increase over the prior year and was driven 
primarily by the current year acquisition along with increases from the PPP loans and debt securities purchased as a result of excess 
liquidity.  Organic loan growth was $1.158 billion, or 12 percent, during the current year and excluding the PPP loans, organic loan 
growth was $249 million, or 3 percent.  The Company experienced another great year in core deposit which organically increased 
$3.433 billion, or 32 percent, with non-interest bearing deposits increasing $1.616 billion, or 44 percent, during the year.

Tangible stockholders’ equity increased $296 million, or $2.60 per share, as a result of earnings retention, an increase in other 
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and Company stock issued in connection with the current year acquisition.  The Company increased 
its total regular quarterly dividends declared from $1.11 per share during 2019 to $1.18 per share in 2020.  During the current year, 
S&P Dow Jones Indices selected the Company to transition from the S&P SmallCap 600® to the S&P MidCap 400®.  The S&P 
MidCap  400® index consist of 400 companies that are chosen with regard to market capitalizing, liquidity and industry 
representation.

The Company continued to decrease its non-performing assets and ended the year at $35.4 million, or 0.19 percent of assets, which 
was a decrease of $2.0 million, or 5 percent, from the prior year end.  In addition, early stage delinquencies (accruing 30-89 days past 
due) as a percentage of loans at December 31, 2020 was 0.20 percent compared to 0.24 percent at the prior year end.  

The Company had record net income for the year of $266 million, which was an increase of $55.9 million, or 27 percent, over the 
prior year net income of $211 million.  Diluted earnings per share for the year was $2.81, an increase of 18 percent, from the 2019 
diluted earnings per share of $2.38.  The improvement in net income for 2020 was due to recent acquisitions, organic growth, the 
significant increase in commercial interest income from the PPP loans and the record year for gain on sale of loans.  The Company's 
net interest margin for 2020 was 4.09 percent, a 30 basis points decrease from the net interest margin of 4.39 percent from 2019 which 
was primarily driven by the low rate environment and the shift in the earning asset mix from higher yielding loans to lower yielding 
debt securities.    

Looking forward, the Company’s future performance will depend on many factors including economic conditions in the markets the 
Company serves, interest rate changes, increasing competition for deposits and loans, loan quality and growth, the impact and 
successful integration of acquisitions, and managing regulatory burden. 
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Consumer Land or Lot Loans
The Company originates land and lot acquisition loans to borrowers who intend to construct their primary residence on the respective 
land or lot.  These loans are generally for a term of three to five years and are secured by the developed land or lot with the loan-to-
value limited to the lesser of 75 percent of the appraised value or 75 percent of the cost.

Unimproved Land and Land Development Loans
Although the Company has originated very few unimproved land and land development loans since the economic downturn in 2008, 
the Company may originate such loans on properties intended for residential and commercial use where improved real estate market 
conditions have occurred.  These loans are typically made for a term of 18 months to two years and are secured by the developed 
property with a loan-to-value not to exceed the lesser of 75 percent of cost or 65 percent of the appraised discounted bulk sale value 
upon completion of the improvements.  The projects under development are inspected on a regular basis and advances are made on a 
percentage-of-completion basis.  The loans are made to borrowers with real estate development experience and appropriate financial 
strength.  Generally, the Company requires that a certain percentage of the development be pre-sold or that construction and term take-
out commitments are in place prior to funding the loan.  Loans made on unimproved land are generally made for a term of five to ten 
years with a loan-to-value not to exceed the lesser of 50 percent of appraised value or 50 percent of cost.

Residential Builder Guidance Lines
The Company provides Builder Guidance Lines that are comprised of pre-sold and spec-home construction and lot acquisition loans.  
The spec-home construction and lot acquisition loans are limited to a specific number and maximum amount. Generally, the individual 
loans will not exceed a one year maturity.  The homes under construction are inspected on a regular basis and advances made on a 
percentage-of-completion basis.

Construction Loans
During the construction loan term, all construction loan collateral properties are inspected at least monthly, or more frequently as 
needed, until completion.  Draws on construction loans are predicated upon the results of the inspection and advanced based upon a 
percentage-of-completion basis versus original budget percentages.  When construction loans become non-performing and the 
associated project is not complete, the Company on a case-by-case basis makes the decision to advance additional funds or to initiate 
collection/foreclosure proceedings. Such decision includes obtaining “as-is” and “at completion” appraisals for consideration of 
potential increases or decreases in the collateral’s value. The Company also considers the increased costs of monitoring progress to 
completion, and the related collection/holding period costs should collateral ownership be transferred to the Company.  

Commercial Real Estate Loans
Loans are made to purchase, construct and finance commercial real estate properties.  These loans are generally made to borrowers 
who will own and occupy the property, but may include loans to finance investment or income properties.  Commercial real estate 
loans generally have a loan-to-value up to the lesser of 75 percent of the appraised value or 75 percent of the cost and require a 
minimum 1.2 times debt service coverage margin. 

Agricultural Lending
Agricultural lending is conducted on a conservative basis and consists of operating credits, term real estate loans for the acquisition or 
refinance of agricultural real estate or equipment, and term livestock loans for the acquisition or refinance of livestock.  Loan-to-value 
on equipment, livestock and agricultural real estate is generally limited to 75 percent.

PPP Loans
A PPP loan is a small business loan designed to assist qualifying businesses in keeping workers on the payroll during the Covid-19 
pandemic.  The program commenced on April 3, 2020 with June 30, 2020 (subsequently changed to August 8, 2020) as the last day to 
apply for and receive a PPP loan.  As originally enacted, each PPP loan is 100% guaranteed by the SBA, has a 1% interest rate, 2-year 
maturity and 6-month payment deferral period starting from the loan disbursement date.  The PPP program was further amended as of 
June 5, 2020 under the Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act with the primary changes to extend the period of qualifying 
expenditures from 8 weeks to 24 weeks, reduce the required use of funds for payroll expenses from 75% to 60%, change the deferral 
date from 6 months to the date of forgiveness, and extend the maturity from 2 years to 5 years for loans originated after the June 5, 
2020 enactment date.

Home Equity Loans
The Company’s home equity loans of $636 million and $617 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, consist of 1-4 
family junior lien mortgages and first and junior lien lines of credit secured by residential real estate.  At December 31, 2020, the 
home equity loan portfolio consisted of 97 percent variable interest rate and 3 percent fixed interest rate loans.  Approximately 58 
percent of the home equity loans were in a first lien status with the remaining 42 percent in junior lien status.  Approximately 3 
percent of the home equity loans were closed-end amortizing loans and 97 percent were open-end, revolving home equity lines of 
credit.  At December 31, 2019, the home equity loan portfolio consisted of 92 percent variable interest rate and 8 percent fixed interest 
rate loans.  Approximately 56 percent of the home equity loans were in a first lien status with the remaining 44 percent in junior lien 
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status.  Approximately 5 percent of the home equity loans were closed-end amortizing loans and 95 percent were open-end, revolving 
home equity lines of credit.

Home equity lines of credit are generally originated with maturity terms of 15 years.  At origination, borrowers can choose a variable 
interest rate that changes quarterly, or after the first 3, 5 or 10 years from the origination date.  The draw period for home equity lines 
of credit usually exists from origination to maturity.  During the draw period, the Company has home equity lines of credit where the 
borrowers pay interest only and home equity lines of credit where borrowers pay principal and interest.  

Consumer Lending
The majority of consumer loans are secured by real estate, automobiles, or other assets.  The Company intends to continue making 
such loans because of their short-term nature, generally between three months and five years.  Moreover, interest rates on consumer 
loans are generally higher than on residential mortgage loans.  

States and Political Subdivisions Lending
The Company lends directly to state and local political subdivisions.  The loans are typically secured by the full faith and credit of the 
municipality or a specific revenue stream such as water or sewer fees.  In general, state and local political subdivision loans carry a 
low risk of default and offer other complementary business opportunities such as deposits and cash management.  The loans are 
generally long-term in nature and interest on many of these loans is tax-exempt for federal income tax purposes.  

Credit Risk Management
The Company is committed to a conservative management of the credit risk within the loan portfolio, including the early recognition 
of problem loans. The Company’s credit risk management includes stringent credit policies, individual loan approval limits, limits on 
concentrations of credit, and committee approval of larger loan requests. Management practices also include regular internal and 
external credit examinations, identification and review of individual loans and leases experiencing deterioration of credit quality, 
procedures for the collection of non-performing assets, quarterly monitoring of the loan portfolio, semi-annual review of loans by 
industry, and periodic stress testing of the loans secured by real estate.  Federal and state regulatory safety and soundness examinations 
are conducted annually.

The Company’s loan policy and credit administration practices establish standards and limits for all extensions of credit that are 
secured by interests in or liens on real estate, or made for the purpose of financing the construction of real property or other 
improvements.  Ongoing monitoring and review of the loan portfolio is based on current information, including: the borrowers’ and 
guarantors’ creditworthiness, value of the real estate and other collateral, the project’s performance against projections, and monthly 
inspections by Company employees or external parties until the real estate project is complete.

Monitoring of the junior lien and home equity lines of credit portfolios includes evaluating payment delinquency, collateral values, 
bankruptcy notices and foreclosure filings.  Additionally, the Company places junior lien mortgages and junior lien home equity lines 
of credit on non-accrual status when there is evidence that the associated senior lien is 90 days past due or is in the process of 
foreclosure, regardless of the junior lien delinquency status. 

Loan Approval Limits
Individual loan approval limits have been established for each lender based on the loan types and experience of the individual.  There 
are four additional loan approval levels: 1) the Bank divisions’ Officer Loan Committees, consisting of senior lenders and members of 
senior management; 2) the Bank divisions’ advisory boards; 3) the Bank’s Executive Loan Committee, consisting of the Bank 
divisions’ senior loan officers and the Company’s Chief Credit Administrator; and 4) Bank’s Board of Directors.  Under banking laws, 
loans-to-one-borrower and related entities are limited to a prescribed percentage of the unimpaired capital and surplus of the Bank.

Interest Reserves
Interest reserves are used to periodically advance loan funds to pay interest charges on the outstanding balance of the related loan.  As 
with any extension of credit, the decision to establish a loan-funded interest reserve upon origination of construction loans, including 
residential construction and land, lot and other construction loans, is based on prudent underwriting, including the feasibility of the 
project, expected cash flow, creditworthiness of the borrower and guarantors, and the protection provided by the real estate and other 
underlying collateral.  Interest reserves provide an effective means for addressing the cash flow characteristics of construction loans.  
In response to the downturn in the housing market and potential impact upon construction lending, the Company discourages the 
creation or continued use of interest reserves.

Interest reserves are advanced provided the related construction loan is performing as expected. Loans with interest reserves may be 
extended, renewed or restructured only when the related loan continues to perform as expected and meets the prudent underwriting 
standards identified above.  Such renewals, extension or restructuring are not permitted in order to keep the related loan current.
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In monitoring the performance and credit quality of a construction loan, the Company assesses the adequacy of any remaining interest 
reserve, and whether the use of an interest reserve remains appropriate in the presence of emerging weakness and associated risks in 
the construction loan.

The ongoing accrual and recognition of uncollected interest as income continues only when facts and circumstances continue to 
reasonably support the contractual payment of principal or interest.  Loans are typically designated as non-accrual when the collection 
of the contractual principal or interest is unlikely and has remained unpaid for ninety days or more.  For such loans, the accrual of 
interest and its capitalization into the loan balance will be discontinued.

The Company had $155 million and $240 million of loans with remaining interest reserves of $6.2 million and $8.6 million as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  During 2020 and 2019, the Company extended, renewed or restructured 6 loans and 42 
loans, respectively, with interest reserves.  Such loans had an aggregate outstanding principal balance of $12.2 million and $30.4 
million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  As of December 31, 2020, the Company had no construction loans with 
interest reserves that are currently non-performing or which are potential problem loans.

Loan Purchases, Sales, and Servicing
Fixed rate, long-term mortgage loans are generally sold in the secondary market.  The Company is active in the secondary market, 
primarily through the origination of conventional, Rural Development, Federal Housing Administration and Department of Veterans 
Affairs residential mortgages.  The sale of loans in the secondary mortgage market reduces the Company’s risk of holding long-term, 
fixed rate loans during periods of rising interest rates.  In connection with conventional loan sales, the Company typically sells the 
majority of mortgage loans originated with servicing released.  In certain circumstances, the Company strategically retains servicing 
and in the current year has been more active in retaining the servicing.  For the loans that are sold with servicing retained, the 
Company records a servicing right asset that is subsequently amortized over the life of the loan.  The servicing assets are also 
evaluated for impairment based on the fair value of the servicing asset compared to the carrying value.  

The Company has also been very active in generating commercial Small Business Administration (“SBA”) loans, and other 
commercial loans, with a portion of those loans sold to investors.  The Company has not originated any type of subprime mortgages, 
either for the loan portfolio or for sale to investors.  In addition, the Company has not purchased debt securities collateralized with 
subprime mortgages.  The Company does not actively purchase loans from other financial institutions, and substantially all of the 
Company’s loans receivable are with customers in the Company’s geographic market areas.

Loan Origination and Other Fees
In addition to interest earned on loans, the Company receives fees for originating loans.  Loan fees generally are a percentage of the 
principal amount of the loan and are charged to the borrower, and are normally deducted from the proceeds of the loan.  Loan 
origination fees are generally 1.0 to 1.5 percent on residential mortgages and 0.5 to 1.5 percent on commercial loans, excluding PPP 
loans.  Consumer loans generally require a fixed fee amount.  The Company also receives other fees and charges relating to existing 
loans, which include charges and fees collected in connection with loan modifications.

As enticement to financial institutions to administer the program, the SBA reimburses PPP lenders for processing a PPP loan via loan 
fees.  The fee structure has changed with the new program with the following covering the fee structure for each program:

• 5% for loans of not more than $350,000.
• 3% for loans of more than $350,000 and less than $2 million.
• 1% for loans of $2 million up to a maximum loan of $10 million that were available under the original PPP.

Appraisal and Evaluation Process
The Company’s loan policy and credit administration practices have adopted and implemented the applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements, which establishes criteria for obtaining appraisals or evaluations (new or updated), including transactions that are 
otherwise exempt from the appraisal requirements.

Each of the Bank divisions monitor conditions, including supply and demand factors, in the real estate markets served so they can 
react quickly to changing market conditions to mitigate potential losses from specific credit exposures within the loan portfolio. 
Evidence of the following real estate market conditions and trends is obtained from lending personnel and third party sources:

• demographic indicators, including employment and population trends;
• foreclosures, vacancy, construction and absorption rates;
• property sales prices, rental rates, and lease terms;
• current tax assessments;
• economic indicators, including trends within the lending areas; and
• valuation trends, including discount and capitalization rates.
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Third party information sources include federal, state, and local governments and agencies thereof, private sector economic data 
vendors, real estate brokers, licensed agents, sales, rental and foreclosure data tracking services.

The time between ordering an appraisal or evaluation and receipt from third party vendors is typically two to six weeks for residential 
property depending on geographic market and four to six weeks for non-residential property.  For real estate properties that are of 
highly specialized or limited use, significantly complex or large, additional time beyond the typical times may be required for new 
appraisals or evaluations (new or updated).

As part of the Company’s credit administration and portfolio monitoring practices, the Company’s regular internal and external credit 
examinations review a significant number of individual loan files.  Appraisals and evaluations (new or updated) are reviewed to 
determine whether the timeliness, methods, assumptions, and findings are reasonable and in compliance with the Company’s loan 
policy and credit administration practices.  Such reviews include the adequacy of the steps taken by the Company to ensure that the 
individuals who perform appraisals and evaluations (new or updated) are appropriately qualified and are not subject to conflicts of 
interest.  If there are any deficiencies noted in the reviews, they are reported to Bank management and prompt corrective action is 
taken.
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In determining the ACL, the loan portfolio is separated into pools of loans that share similar risk characteristics which are the 
Company’s loan segments.  The Company then derives estimated loss assumptions from its model by loan segment which is further 
segregated by the credit quality indicators.  The loss assumptions are then applied to each segment of loan to estimate the ACL on the 
pooled loans.  For any loans that do not share similar risk characteristics, the estimated credit losses are determined on an individual 
loan basis and such loans primarily consist of non-accrual loans.  An estimated credit loss is recorded on individually reviewed loans 
when the fair value of a collateral-dependent loan or the present value of the loan’s expected future cash flows (discounted at the loans 
original effective interest rate) is less than the amortized cost of the loan.  

The Company provides commercial banking services to individuals, small to medium-sized businesses, community organizations and 
public entities from 193 locations, including 172 branches, across Montana, Idaho, Utah, Washington, Wyoming, Colorado, Arizona 
and Nevada.  The states in which the Company operates have diverse economies and markets that are tied to commodities (crops, 
livestock, minerals, oil and natural gas), tourism, real estate and land development and an assortment of industries, both manufacturing 
and service-related.  Thus, the changes in the global, national, and local economies are not uniform across the Company’s geographic 
locations.  The geographic dispersion of these market areas helps to mitigate the risk of credit loss.  The Company’s model of sixteen 
bank divisions with separate management teams is also a significant benefit in mitigating and managing the Company’s credit risk.  
This model provides substantial local oversight to the lending and credit management function and requires multiple reviews of larger 
loans before credit is extended.

The primary responsibility for credit risk assessment and identification of problem loans rests with the loan officer of the account. This 
continuous process of identifying non-performing loans is necessary to support management’s evaluation of the ACL adequacy.  An 
independent loan review function verifying credit risk ratings evaluates the loan officer and management’s evaluation of the loan 
portfolio credit quality.  The ACL evaluation is well documented and approved by the Company’s Board.  In addition, the policy and 
procedures for determining the balance of the ACL are reviewed annually by the Company’s Board, the internal audit department, 
independent credit reviewers and state and federal bank regulatory agencies.

Although the Company continues to actively monitor economic trends and regulatory developments, no assurance can be given that 
the Company will not, in any particular period, sustain losses that are significant relative to the ACL amount, or that subsequent 
evaluations of the loan portfolio applying management’s judgment about then current factors will not require significant changes in the 
ACL.  Under such circumstances, additional provision for credit losses could result.  

For additional information regarding the ACL, its relation to the provision for credit losses on loans and risk related to asset quality, 
see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
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monitoring, employee training, and security awareness testing.  The Board's Risk Oversight Committee is responsible for monitoring 
the Company’s cyber risk management profile and related programs.  The Board is responsible for approval of related policies.

Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP often requires management to use significant 
judgments as well as subjective and/or complex measurements in making estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  The Company considers its accounting policies for the ACL, goodwill and fair value 
measurements to be critical accounting policies.  The application of these policies has a significant impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements and financial results could differ significantly if different judgments or estimates were applied.

Allowance for Credit Losses
For information regarding the ACL, its relation to the provision for credit losses and risk related to asset quality, see the section 
captioned “Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans Receivable” included in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” and Notes 1 and 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.”

Goodwill
For information on goodwill, see Notes 1 and 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.”

Fair Value Measurements
For information on fair value measurements, see Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Data.”

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Authoritative accounting guidance that may have had a material impact on the Company that became effective during 2020 or 2019 
includes amendments to: 

• FASB ASC Topic 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses
• FASB ASC Topic 350, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill;
• FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM (“ASC”) Subtopic 310-20, Receivables - Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs;
• FASB ASC Topic 842, Leases;

There is no authoritative accounting guidance which is pending adoption at December 31, 2020, that is expected to have a material 
impact on the Company. 

For additional information on the topics and the impact on the Company see Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 
8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The disclosures set forth in this item are qualified by the section captioned “Forward-Looking Statements” included in “Item 7. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”  Market risk is the risk of loss in a 
financial instrument arising from adverse changes in market rates/prices such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, 
commodity prices, and equity prices.  The Company’s primary market risk exposure is interest rate risk.  

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the potential for loss of future earnings resulting from adverse changes in the level of interest rates.  Interest rate 
risk results from many factors and could have a significant impact on the Company’s net interest income, which is the Company’s 
primary source of net income.  Net interest income is affected by changes in interest rates, the relationship between rates on interest 
bearing assets and liabilities, the impact of the interest fluctuations on asset prepayments and the mix of interest bearing assets and 
liabilities.  

Although interest rate risk is inherent in the banking industry, banks are expected to have sound risk management practices in place to 
measure, monitor and control interest rate exposures.  The objective of interest rate risk management is to contain the risks associated 
with interest rate fluctuations.  The process involves identification and management of the sensitivity of net interest income to 
changing interest rates. 

The ongoing monitoring and management of this risk is an important component of the Company’s asset/liability management process 
which is governed by policies established by the Company’s Board that are reviewed and approved annually.  The Board delegates 

60





 

62 
 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 
 
 

Stockholders, Board of Directors and Audit Committee 
Glacier Bancorp, Inc. 
Kalispell, Montana 
 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Glacier Bancorp, 
Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial 
statements”).  In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended  
December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of  
December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013), 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our 
report dated March 1, 2021, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Adoption of New Accounting Standard 

As discussed in Notes 1, 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its 
method for accounting for credit losses on investments, loans and unfunded loan commitments in 2020 
due to the adoption of ASC Topic 326.  As discussed below, the allowance for credit losses is considered 
a critical audit matter. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. 

We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
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We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.  Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.  Our audits included performing procedures 
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and 
performing procedures that respond to those risks.  Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matters 

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the 
financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and 
that:  (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our 
especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments.  The communication of critical audit matters 
does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by 
communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters 
or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate. 

Allowance for Credit Losses 

As described in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FAB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-13, Topic 
326, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses, on January 1, 2020, which significantly changed the loan and 
allowance for credit losses (ACL) accounting and related financial statement disclosures.  The Company’s 
consolidated ACL was approximately $158 million at December 31, 2020.  The ACL is an estimate of 
probable credit losses related to specifically identified loans and for losses inherent in the portfolio that 
the Company is unlikely to recover.  The determination of the ACL includes a quantitative portion that 
calculates historical average loss rates and uses forecast assumptions and other inputs to project credit 
losses over the life of the loan portfolio.  Additionally, the ACL requires management to exercise 
significant judgment and consider numerous subjective factors, including determining qualitative factors 
utilized to adjust the ACL for projected credit losses that the quantitative allocations portion does not 
factor into its consideration.  As disclosed by management, different assumptions and conditions could 
result in a materially different amount for the ACL. 

We identified the valuation of the ACL as a critical audit matter.  Auditing the allowance for credit loss 
involved a high degree of subjectivity in evaluating management’s estimates, such as evaluating 
management’s identification of credit quality indicators, assessment of economic conditions and other 
environmental factors, evaluating the adequacy of specific allowances associated with individually 
evaluated loans and assessing the appropriateness of loan grades and non-accrual, collateral dependent, 
and individually evaluated designations. 
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The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:  

 Testing the effectiveness of controls, including those related to technology over the ACL 
including data completeness and accuracy, classifications of loan segments, historical data, the 
calculation of baseline loss rates, the establishment of qualitative adjustments, identification of 
individually  evaluated loans and risk classification of individual loans and/or loan relationships, 
establishment of specific reserves on individually evaluated loans and  management’s review 
controls over the ACL balance as a whole; 

 Testing of completeness and accuracy of the information utilized in the ACL through testing of 
year-end loan balances, non-accrual and individually evaluated loan designations, gross charge-
offs and recoveries; 

 Testing of the Company’s ACL narrative supporting the overall ACL process in place and 
adjusted loss factors applied to various loan segments; 

 Testing of the economic inputs utilized to generate the economic forecast multipliers utilized 
within the quantitative portion of the ACL; 

 Testing the Company’s ACL model for computational accuracy;   
 Evaluating the qualitative adjustments to the loan segments, including assessing the basis for the 

adjustments and the reasonableness of the significant assumptions, including; management’s 
COVID-19 qualitative factor adjustments; 

 Testing the loan review functions and evaluating the accuracy of loan grades, specific reserve 
calculations, and non-accrual and collateral-dependent identifications; 

 Utilizing internal subject matter experts in the area of loan review to assist us in evaluating the 
appropriateness of loan grades, non-accrual and collateral dependent loan identifications and to 
assess the reasonableness of specific impairments allocated to impaired loans; 

 Evaluating the overall reasonableness of assumptions used by considering the past performance 
of the Company and evaluating to trends identified within the banking industry, including, but not 
limited to the following: 

o Timing and frequency of improvements noted in key lending ratios that are indicative of 
potential credit risk in the overall loan portfolio and banking industry  

o Observation of trends in the Company’s overall qualitative factors to ensure directional 
consistency, the overall economic climate and risk trends identified in the loan portfolio 

o Evaluating the relevance and reliability of the data and data sources 

Merger and Acquisition 

As described in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company consummated the 
acquisition of a bank holding company during the year ended December 31, 2020, resulting in the 
expansion of the Company’s operating footprint and additional goodwill of approximately $58 million 
being recognized on the Company’s consolidated statement of financial condition.  As part of the 
acquisition consummated during the year, management determined that the acquisition qualified as a 
business and accordingly all identifiable assets and liabilities acquired were valued at fair value as part of 
the purchase price allocation as of the acquisition date.  The identification and valuation of such acquired 
assets and assumed liabilities requires management to exercise significant judgment and consider the use 
of outside vendors to estimate the fair value allocations. 
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We identified the acquisition and the valuation of acquired assets and assumed liabilities as a critical audit 
matter.  Auditing the acquired net assets and acquisition related considerations involved a high degree of 
subjectivity in evaluating management’s operational assumptions of the newly acquired division, fair 
value estimates, purchase price allocations and assessing the appropriateness of outside vendor valuation 
models. 

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included: 

 Obtaining and reviewing executed Plan and Agreement of Merger document to gain an 
understanding of the underlying terms of the consummated acquisition; 

 Obtaining and reviewing management’s purchase accounting checklist to gain an understanding 
of procedures performed to identify and value the acquired assets and liabilities; 

 Testing management’s purchase accounting analysis, focusing on the completeness and accuracy 
of the balance sheet acquired and related fair value purchase price allocations made to the 
identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed; 

 Obtaining  valuation estimates prepared by the Company’s valuation specialist and challenging 
management’s analysis of the appropriateness of the valuations allocated to assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed; including but not limited to, testing of critical inputs, assumptions applied and 
valuation models utilized by the Company’s valuation specialist; 

 Utilization of BKD’s internal valuation specialists to assist with evaluating the related fair value 
purchase price allocations made to the identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed; 

 Testing the goodwill calculation resulting from the acquisition consummated, which is the 
difference between the total net consideration paid and the fair value of the net assets acquired; 

 Reviewing and evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures made in the footnotes of the 
Company’s SEC filings. 

Emphasis of a Matter 

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, on January 1, 2020, the Company adopted new 
accounting guidance for accounting for credit losses.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to this 
matter. 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005. 

 

Denver, Colorado 
March 1, 2021 
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Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

We have audited Glacier Bancorp, Inc.’s (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO).  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements of the Company and our report 
dated March 1, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Basis for Opinion 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included 
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based 
on our audit.   

We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.  Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the 
risk that a material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk.  Our audit also included performing such other procedures as 
we considered necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion. 
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Definitions and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

A Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of reliable financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the 
Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the 
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

 

Denver, Colorado 
March 1, 2021 















GLACIER BANCORP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1.  Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General
Glacier Bancorp, Inc. (“Company”) is a Montana corporation headquartered in Kalispell, Montana.  The Company provides a full 
range of banking services to individuals and businesses in Montana, Idaho, Utah, Washington, Wyoming, Colorado, Arizona and 
Nevada through its wholly-owned bank subsidiary, Glacier Bank (“Bank”).  The Company offers a wide range of banking products 
and services, including: 1) retail banking; 2) business banking; 3) real estate, commercial, agriculture and consumer loans; and 4) 
mortgage origination and loan servicing.  The Company serves individuals, small to medium-sized businesses, community 
organizations and public entities.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses 
during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change include: 1) the determination of the allowance for credit losses 
(“ACL” or “allowance”) on loans; 2) the valuation of debt securities; 3) the valuation of real estate acquired in connection with 
foreclosures or in satisfaction of loans; and 4) the evaluation of goodwill impairment.  For the determination of the ACL on loans and 
real estate valuation estimates, management obtains independent appraisals (new or updated) for significant items.  Estimates relating 
to investment valuations are obtained from independent third parties.  Estimates relating to the evaluation of goodwill for impairment 
are determined based on internal calculations using independent party inputs.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the parent holding company and the Bank, which consists of sixteen 
bank divisions and a corporate division.  The corporate division includes the Bank’s investment portfolio, wholesale borrowings and 
other centralized functions.  The Bank divisions operate under separate names, management teams and advisory directors.  The 
Company considers the Bank to be its sole operating segment as the Bank 1) engages in similar bank business activity from which it 
earns revenues and incurs expenses; 2) the operating results of the Bank are regularly reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer 
(“CEO”) (i.e., the chief operating decision maker) who makes decisions about resources to be allocated to the Bank; and 3) financial 
information is available for the Bank.  All significant inter-company transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Bank has subsidiary interests in variable interest entities (“VIE”) for which the Bank has both the power to direct the VIE’s 
significant activities and the obligation to absorb losses or right to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant to 
the VIE.  These subsidiary interests are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  The Bank also has subsidiary 
interests in VIEs for which the Bank does not have a controlling financial interest and is not the primary beneficiary.  These subsidiary 
interests are not included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

The parent holding company owns non-bank subsidiaries that have issued trust preferred securities.  The trust subsidiaries are not 
included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  The Company's investments in the trust subsidiaries are included in 
other assets on the Company's statements of financial condition.

On February 29, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of State Bank Corp., the bank holding company for State Bank of 
Arizona, a community bank based in Lake Havasu City, Arizona (collectively, “SBAZ”).  In July 2019, the Company completed the 
acquisition of Heritage Bancorp, the bank holding company for Heritage Bank of Nevada, a community bank based in Reno, Nevada 
(collectively, “Heritage”).  In April 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of FNB Bancorp, the holding company for The First 
National Bank of Layton, a community bank based in Layton, Utah (collectively, “FNB”).  In February 2018, the Company completed 
its acquisition of Inter-Mountain Bancorp., Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, First Security Bank, a community bank based in 
Bozeman, Montana (collectively, “FSB”).  In January 2018, the Company completed its acquisition of Columbine Capital Corp., and 
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Collegiate Peaks Bank, a community bank based in Buena Vista, Colorado (collectively, “Collegiate”).   
The business combinations were accounted for using the acquisition method, with the results of operations included in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements as of the acquisition dates.  For additional information relating to recent mergers and acquisitions, 
see Note 23.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash held as demand deposits at various banks and the Federal Reserve Bank 
(“FRB”), interest bearing deposits, federal funds sold, and liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.  The 
Bank is required to maintain an average reserve balance with either the FRB or in the form of cash on hand.  During 2020, the Fed 
temporarily reduced the reserve requirement due to COVID-19. The required reserve balance at December 31, 2020 was $0.

Debt Securities
On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update  (“ASU”) 
2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, which significantly changed the allowance for credit loss accounting policies for debt 
securities.  The following debt securities and allowance for credit loss accounting policies are presented under Accounting Standards 
Codification™ (“ASC”) Topic 326, whereas prior periods are presented as described in the Company’s 2019 Annual Report on Form 
10-K.

Debt securities for which the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are 
carried at amortized cost.  Debt securities held primarily for the purpose of selling in the near term are classified as trading securities 
and are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses included in income.  Debt securities not classified as held-to-maturity 
or trading are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of income taxes, as a 
separate component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”).  Premiums and discounts on debt securities are amortized or accreted 
into income using a method that approximates the interest method.  The objective of the interest method is to calculate periodic 
interest income at a constant effective yield.  The Company does not have any debt securities classified as trading securities.  When 
the Company acquires another entity, it designates all debt securities as available-for-sale at acquisition date and records the debt 
securities at fair value.

The Company reviews and analyzes the various risks that may be present within the investment portfolio on an ongoing basis, 
including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  Market risk is the risk to an entity’s financial condition resulting from adverse 
changes in the value of its holdings arising from movements in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices or commodity 
prices.  The Company assesses the market risk of individual debt securities as well as the investment portfolio as a whole.  Credit risk, 
broadly defined, is the risk that an issuer or counterparty will fail to perform on an obligation.  The credit rating of a security is 
considered the primary credit quality indicator for debt securities.  Liquidity risk refers to the risk that a security will not have an 
active and efficient market in which the security can be sold.

A debt security is investment grade if the issuer has adequate capacity to meet its commitment over the expected life of the 
investment, i.e., the risk of default is low and full and timely repayment of interest and principal is expected.  To determine investment 
grade status for debt securities, the Company conducts due diligence of the creditworthiness of the issuer or counterparty prior to 
acquisition and ongoing thereafter consistent with the risk characteristics of the security and the overall risk of the investment 
portfolio.  Credit quality due diligence takes into account the extent to which a security is guaranteed by the U.S. government and 
other agencies of the U.S. government.  The depth of the due diligence is based on the complexity of the structure, the size of the 
security, and takes into account material positions and specific groups of securities or stratifications for analysis and review of similar 
risk positions.  The due diligence includes consideration of payment performance, collateral adequacy, internal analyses, third party 
research and analytics, external credit ratings and default statistics.

The Company has acquired debt securities through acquisitions and if the securities have more than insignificant credit deterioration 
since origination, they are designated as purchased credit-deteriorated (“PCD”) securities.  An ACL is determined using the same 
methodology as with other debt securities.  The sum of a PCD security’s fair value and associated ACL becomes its initial amortized 
cost basis.  The difference between the initial amortized cost basis and the par value of the debt security is a noncredit discount or 
premium, which is amortized into interest income over the life of the security.  Subsequent changes to the ACL are recorded through 
provision for credit losses.

For additional information relating to debt securities, see Note 2.

Allowance for Credit Losses - Available-for-Sale Debt Securities
For available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position, the Company first assesses whether it intends to sell, or it is more-
likely-than-not that it will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis.   If either of the criteria regarding 
intent or requirement to sell is met, the security’s amortized cost basis is written down to fair value through other expense.  For the 
available-for-sale securities that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the Company evaluates whether the decline in fair value has 
resulted from credit losses or other factors.  In such assessment, the Company considers the extent to which fair value is less than 
amortized cost, if there are any changes to the investment grade of the security by a rating agency, and if there any adverse conditions 
that impact the security.  If this assessment indicates a credit loss exists, the present value of the cash flows expected to be collected 
from the security is compared to the amortized cost basis of the security.  If the present value of the cash flows expected to be 
collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a potential credit loss exists and an ACL is recorded for the credit loss, limited by the 
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amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost.  Any estimated credit losses that have not been recorded through an ACL are 
recognized in OCI.

The Company has elected to exclude accrued interest from the estimate of credit losses for available-for-sale debt securities.  As part 
of its non-accrual policy, the Company charges-off uncollectable interest at the time it is determined to be uncollectable. 

Allowance for Credit Losses - Held-to-Maturity Debt Securities
For estimating the allowance for held-to-maturity (“HTM”) debt securities that share similar risk characteristics with other securities, 
such securities are pooled based on major security type.  For pools of such securities with similar risk characteristics, the historical 
lifetime probability of default and severity of loss in the event of default is derived or obtained from external sources and adjusted for 
the expected effects of reasonable and supportable forecasts over the expected lives of the securities on those historical credit losses.  
Expected credit losses on securities in the held-to-maturity portfolio that do not share similar risk characteristics with any of the pools 
of debt securities are individually measured based on net realizable value, or the difference between the discounted value of the 
expected future cash flows, based on the original effective interest rate, and the recorded amortized cost basis of the securities.  

The Company has elected to exclude accrued interest from the estimate of credit losses for held-to-maturity debt securities.  As part of 
its non-accrual policy, the Company charges off uncollectable interest at the time it is determined to be uncollectable. 

Loans Held for Sale
Loans held for sale generally consist of long-term, fixed rate, conforming, single-family residential real estate loans intended to be 
sold on the secondary market.  Loans held for sale are recorded at fair value and typically sold with servicing rights released.  Changes 
in fair value are recognized in non-interest income.  Fair value elections are made at the time of origination based on the Company’s 
fair value election policy.  

Loans Receivable
On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted FASB ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, which significantly changed 
the loan and allowance for credit loss accounting policies.  The following loan and allowance for credit loss accounting policies are 
presented under ASC Topic 326, whereas prior periods are presented in accordance with the incurred loss model as disclosed in the 
Company’s 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company’s loan segments or classes are based on the purpose of the loan and consist of residential real estate, commercial real 
estate, other commercial, home equity, and other consumer loans.  Loans that are intended to be held-to-maturity are reported at the 
unpaid principal balance less net charge-offs and adjusted for deferred fees and costs on originated loans and unamortized premiums 
or discounts on acquired loans.  Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance.  Fees and costs on originated loans and 
premiums or discounts on acquired loans are deferred and subsequently amortized or accreted as a yield adjustment over the expected 
life of the loan utilizing the interest or straight-line methods.  The interest method is utilized for loans with scheduled payment terms 
and the objective is to calculate periodic interest income at a constant effective yield.  The straight-line method is utilized for revolving 
lines of credit or loans with no scheduled payment terms.  When a loan is paid off prior to maturity, the remaining unamortized fees 
and costs on originated loans and unamortized premiums or discounts on acquired loans are immediately recognized into interest 
income. 

Loans that are thirty days or more past due based on payments received and applied to the loan are considered delinquent.  Loans are 
designated non-accrual and the accrual of interest is discontinued when the collection of the contractual principal or interest is 
unlikely.  A loan is typically placed on non-accrual when principal or interest is due and has remained unpaid for ninety days or more.  
When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, interest previously accrued but not collected is reversed against current period interest 
income.  Subsequent payments on non-accrual loans are applied to the outstanding principal balance if doubt remains as to the 
ultimate collectability of the loan.  Interest accruals are not resumed on partially charged-off impaired loans.  For other loans on non-
accrual, interest accruals are resumed on such loans only when they are brought fully current with respect to interest and principal and 
when, in the judgment of management, the loans are estimated to be fully collectible as to both principal and interest.

The Company has acquired loans through acquisitions, some of which have experienced more than insignificant credit deterioration 
since origination.  The Company considers all acquired non-accrual loans to be PCD loans.  In addition, the Company considers loans 
accruing ninety days or more past due with estimated credit losses or substandard loans with estimated credit losses to be PCD loans.  
An ACL is determined using the same methodology as other loans held for investment.  The ACL determined on a collective basis is 
allocated to individual loans.  The sum of a loan’s fair value and ACL becomes the initial amortized cost basis.  The difference 
between the initial amortized cost basis and the par value of the loan is a noncredit discount or premium, which is amortized into 
interest income over the life of the loan.  Subsequent changes to the ACL are recorded through provision for credit losses.

For additional information relating to loans, see Note 3.
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Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans Receivable
The allowance for credit losses for loans receivable represents management’s estimate of credit losses over the expected contractual 
life of the loan portfolio.  The estimate is determined based on the amortized cost of the loan portfolio including the loan balance 
adjusted for charge-offs, recoveries, deferred fees and costs, and loan discount and premiums.  Recoveries are included only to the 
extent that such amounts were previously charged-off.  The Company has elected to exclude accrued interest from the estimate of 
credit losses for loans.  Determining the adequacy of the allowance is complex and requires a high degree of judgment by management 
about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.  Subsequent evaluations of the then-existing loan portfolio, in light of the 
factors then prevailing, may result in significant changes in the allowance in future periods.

The allowance is increased for estimated credit losses which are recorded as expense.  The portion of loans and overdraft balances 
determined by management to be uncollectable are charged-off as a reduction to the allowance and recoveries of amounts previously 
charged-off increase the allowance.  The Company’s charge-off policy is consistent with bank regulatory standards.  Consumer loans 
generally are charged-off when the loan becomes over 120 days delinquent.  Real estate acquired as a result of foreclosure or by deed-
in-lieu of foreclosure is classified as other real estate owned (“OREO”) until such time as it is sold. 

The expected credit loss estimate process involves procedures to consider the unique characteristics of each of the Company’s loan 
portfolio segments, which consist of residential real estate, commercial real estate, other commercial, home equity, and other 
consumer loans.  When computing the allowance levels, credit loss assumptions are estimated using a model that categorizes loan 
pools based on loss history, credit and risk characteristics, including current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts about 
the future.  The Company has determined a four consecutive quarter forecasting period is a reasonable and supportable period.  
Expected credit loss for periods beyond reasonable and supportable forecast periods are determined based on a reversion method 
which reverts back to historical loss estimate over a four consecutive quarter period on a straight-line basis.

Credit quality is assessed and monitored by evaluating various attributes and the results of those evaluations are utilized in 
underwriting new loans and the process for estimating the expected credit losses.  The following paragraphs describe the risk 
characteristics relevant to each portfolio segment.

Residential Real Estate.  Residential real estate loans are secured by owner-occupied 1-4 family residences.  Repayment of these loans 
is primarily dependent on the personal income and credit rating of the borrowers.  Credit risk in these loans is impacted by economic 
conditions within the Company’s market areas that affect the value of the residential property securing the loans and affect the 
borrowers' personal incomes.  Mitigating risk factors for this loan segment include a large number of borrowers, geographic dispersion 
of market areas and the loans are originated for relatively smaller amounts.

Commercial Real Estate.  Commercial real estate loans typically involve larger principal amounts, and repayment of these loans is 
generally dependent on the successful operation of the property securing the loan and/or the business conducted on the property 
securing the loan.  Credit risk in these loans is impacted by the creditworthiness of a borrower, valuation of the property securing the 
loan and conditions within the local economies in the Company’s diverse, geographic market areas.

Commercial.  Commercial loans consist of loans to commercial customers for use in financing working capital needs, equipment 
purchases and business expansions.  The loans in this category are repaid primarily from the cash flow of a borrower’s principal 
business operation.  Credit risk in these loans is driven by creditworthiness of a borrower and the economic conditions that impact the 
cash flow stability from business operations across the Company’s diverse, geographic market areas.

Home Equity.  Home equity loans consist of junior lien mortgages and first and junior lien lines of credit (revolving open-end and 
amortizing closed-end) secured by owner-occupied 1-4 family residences.  Repayment of these loans is primarily dependent on the 
personal income and credit rating of the borrowers.  Credit risk in these loans is impacted by economic conditions within the 
Company’s market areas that affect the value of the residential property securing the loans and affect the borrowers' personal 
incomes.  Mitigating risk factors for this loan segment are a large number of borrowers, geographic dispersion of market areas and the 
loans are originated for terms that range from 10 to 15 years.

Other Consumer.  The other consumer loan portfolio consists of various short-term loans such as automobile loans and loans for other 
personal purposes.  Repayment of these loans is primarily dependent on the personal income of the borrowers.  Credit risk is driven by 
consumer economic factors (such as unemployment and general economic conditions in the Company’s diverse, geographic market 
area) and the creditworthiness of a borrower.

The allowance is impacted by loan volumes, delinquency status, credit ratings, historical loss experiences, estimated prepayment 
speeds, weighted average lives and other conditions influencing loss expectations, such as reasonable and supportable forecasts of 
economic conditions.  The methodology for estimating the amount of expected credit losses reported in the allowance has two basic 
components: 1) individual loans that do not share similar risk characteristics with other loans and the measurement of expected credit 
losses for such individual loans; and 2) the expected credit losses for pools of loans that share similar risk characteristics.
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Loans that do not Share Similar Risk Characteristics with Other Loans.  For a loan that does not share similar risk characteristics with 
other loans, expected credit loss is measured based on the net realizable value, that is, the difference between the discounted value of 
the expected future cash flows, based on the original effective interest rate, and the amortized cost basis of the loan.  For these loans, 
the expected credit loss is equal to the amount by which the net realizable value of the loan is less than the amortized cost basis of the 
loan (which is net of previous charge-offs and deferred loan fees and costs), except when the loan is collateral-dependent, that is, when 
foreclosure is probable or the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and repayment is expected to be provided substantially 
through the operation or sale of the collateral.  In these cases, expected credit loss is measured as the difference between the amortized 
cost basis of the loan and the fair value of the collateral.  The fair value of the collateral is adjusted for the estimated cost to sell if 
repayment or satisfaction of a loan is dependent on the sale (rather than only on the operation) of the collateral.  The Company has 
determined that non-accrual loans do not share similar risk characteristics with other loans and these loans are individually evaluated 
for estimated allowance for credit losses.  The Company, through its credit monitoring process, may also identify other loans that do 
no share similar risk characteristics and individually evaluate such loans.  The starting point for determining the fair value of collateral 
is to obtain external appraisals or evaluations (new or updated).  The valuation techniques used in preparing appraisals or evaluations 
(new or updated) include the cost approach, income approach, sales comparison approach, or a combination of the preceding valuation 
techniques.  The Company’s credit department reviews appraisals, giving consideration to the highest and best use of the collateral. 
The appraisals or evaluations (new or updated) are reviewed at least quarterly and more frequently based on current market conditions, 
including deterioration in a borrower’s financial condition and when property values may be subject to significant volatility.  
Adjustments may be made to the fair value of the collateral after review and acceptance of the collateral appraisal or evaluation (new 
or updated).

Loans that Share Similar Risk Characteristics with other Loans.  For estimating the allowance for loans that share similar risk 
characteristics with other loans, such loans are segregated into loan segments.  Loans are designated into loan segments based on loans 
pooled by product types and similar risk characteristics or areas of risk concentration.  In determining the ACL, the Company derives 
an estimated credit loss assumption from a model that categorizes loan pools based on loan type which is further segregated by the 
credit quality indicators.  This model calculates an expected loss percentage for each loan segment by considering the non-discounted 
simple annual average historical loss rate of each loan segment (calculated through an “open pool” method), multiplying the loss rate 
by the amortized loan balance and incorporating that segment’s internally generated prepayment speed assumption and contractually 
scheduled remaining principal pay downs on a loan level basis.  The annual historical loss rates are adjusted over a reasonable 
economic forecast period by a multiplier that is calculated based upon current national economic forecasts as a proportion of each 
segment’s historical average loss levels.  The Company will then revert from the economic forecast period back to the historical 
average loss rate in a straight-line basis.  After the reversion period, the loans will be assumed to experience their historical loss rate 
for the remainder of their contractual lives.  The model applies the expected loss rate over the projected cash flows at the individual 
loan level and then aggregates the losses by loan segment in determining their quantitative allowance.  The Company will also include 
qualitative adjustments to adjust the ACL on loan segments to the extent the current or future market conditions are believed to vary 
substantially from historical conditions in regards to:

• lending policies and procedures;
• international, national, regional and local economic business conditions and developments that affect the collectability of the 

portfolio, including the condition of various markets;
• the nature and volume of the loan portfolio including the terms of the loans;
• the experience, ability, and depth of the lending management and other relevant staff;
• the volume and severity of past due and adversely classified or graded loans and the volume of non-accrual loans;
• the quality of our loan review system;
• the value of underlying collateral for collateralized loans;
• the existence and effect of any concentrations of credit, and changes in the level of concentrations; and
• the effect of external factors such as competition and legal and regulatory requirements on the level of estimated credit losses 

in the existing portfolio. 

The Company regularly reviews loans in the portfolio to assess credit quality indicators and to determine the appropriate loan 
classification and grading in accordance with applicable bank regulations.  The primary credit quality indicator for residential, home 
equity and other consumer loans is the days past due status, which consists of the following categories: 1) performing loans; 2) 30 to 
89 days past due loans; and 3) non-accrual and ninety days or more past due loans.  The primary credit quality indicator for 
commercial real estate and commercial loans is the Company’s internal risk rating system, which includes the following categories: 1) 
pass loans; 2) special mention loans; 3) substandard loans; and 4) doubtful or loss loans.  Such credit quality indicators are regularly 
monitored and incorporated into the Company’s allowance estimate.  The following paragraphs further define the internal risk ratings 
for commercial real estate and commercial loans.  

Pass Loans.  These ratings represent loans that are of acceptable, good or excellent quality with very limited to no risk.  Loans that do 
not have one of the following ratings are considered pass loans. 
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Special Mention Loans.  These ratings represent loans that are designated as special mention per the regulatory definition.  Special 
mention loans are currently protected but are potentially weak.  The credit risk may be relatively minor yet constitute an undue and 
unwarranted risk in light of the circumstances surrounding a specific loan.  The rating may be used to identify credit with potential 
weaknesses that if not corrected may weaken the loan to the point of inadequately protecting the Bank’s credit position. Examples 
include a lack of supervision, inadequate loan agreement, condition, or control of collateral, incomplete, or improper documentation, 
deviations from lending policy, and adverse trends in operations or economic conditions.

Substandard Loans.  This rating represents loans that are inadequately protected by the current sound worth and paying capacity of the 
obligor or of the collateral pledged.  A loan so classified must have a well-defined weakness that jeopardizes the liquidation of the 
debt. These loans are characterized by the distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.  
Loss potential, while existing in the aggregated amount of substandard loans, does not have to exist in an individual loan classified 
substandard.

Doubtful/Loss Loans.  A loan classified as doubtful has the characteristics that make collection in full, on the basis of currently 
existing facts, conditions, and values, highly improbable. The possibility of loss is extremely high, but because of pending factors, 
which may work to the advantage and strengthening of the loan, its classification as loss is deferred until its more exact status may be 
determined.  Pending factors include proposed merger, acquisition, or liquidation procedures, capital injection, perfecting liens on 
additional collateral and refinancing plans.  Loans are classified as loss when they are deemed to be not collectible and of such little 
value that continuance as an active asset of the Bank is not warranted.  Loans classified as loss must be charged-off.  Assignment of 
this classification does not mean that an asset has absolutely no recovery or salvage value, but that it is not practical or desirable to 
defer writing off a basically worthless asset, even though partial recovery may be attained in the future.

Restructured Loans
A restructured loan is considered a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”) if the creditor, for economic or legal reasons related to the 
debtor’s financial difficulties, grants a concession to the debtor that it would not otherwise consider.  The Company periodically enters 
into restructure agreements with borrowers whereby the loans were previously identified as TDRs.  When such circumstances occur, 
the Company carefully evaluates the facts of the subsequent restructure to determine the appropriate accounting and under certain 
circumstances it may be acceptable not to account for the subsequently restructured loan as a TDR.  When assessing whether a 
concession has been granted by the Company, any prior forgiveness on a cumulative basis is considered a continuing concession.  The 
Company has made the following types of loan modifications, some of which were considered a TDR:

• reduction of the stated interest rate for the remaining term of the debt;
• extension of the maturity date(s) at a stated rate of interest lower than the current market rate for newly originated debt 

having similar risk characteristics; and
• reduction of the face amount of the debt as stated in the debt agreements.

The Company recognizes that while borrowers may experience deterioration in their financial condition, many continue to be 
creditworthy borrowers who have the willingness and capacity for debt repayment.  In determining whether non-restructured or 
performing loans issued to a single or related party group of borrowers should continue to accrue interest when the borrower has other 
loans that are non-performing or are TDRs, the Company, on a quarterly or more frequent basis, performs an updated and 
comprehensive assessment of the willingness and capacity of the borrowers to timely and ultimately repay their total debt obligations, 
including contingent obligations.  Such analysis takes into account current financial information about the borrowers and financially 
responsible guarantors, if any, including for example:

• analysis of global, i.e., aggregate debt service for total debt obligations;
• assessment of the value and security protection of collateral pledged using current market conditions and alternative market 

assumptions across a variety of potential future situations; and
• loan structures and related covenants.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was signed into law which includes 
many provisions that impact the Company and its customers.  The banking regulatory agencies have encouraged banks to work with 
borrowers who have been impacted by the coronavirus disease of 2019 (“COVID-19”) and the CARES Act, along with related 
regulatory guidance, allows banks to not designate certain modifications as TDRs that otherwise may have been classified as TDRs.  
In general, in order to qualify for such treatment, the modifications need to be short-term and made on a good faith basis in response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic to borrowers who were previously deemed current as outlined in the regulatory guidance.  The Company has 
made such modifications to assist borrowers impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The allowance for credit losses on a TDR is measured using the same method as all other loans held for investment.  For a TDR that is 
individually reviewed and not collateral-dependent, the value of the concession can only be measured using the discounted cash flow 
method.  When the value of a concession is measured using the discounted cash flow method, the ACL is determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at the original interest of the loan.
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Allowance for Credit Losses - Off-Balance Sheet Credit Exposures
The Company maintains a separate allowance for off-balance sheet credit exposures, including unfunded loan commitments, which is 
included in other liabilities on the Company’s statements of financial condition.  The Company estimates the amount of expected 
losses by calculating a commitment usage factor over the contractual period for exposures and applying the loss factors used in the 
allowance for credit loss methodology to the results of the usage calculation to estimate the liability for credit losses related to 
unfunded commitments for each loan segment.  No credit loss estimate is reported for off-balance sheet credit exposures that are 
unconditionally cancellable by the Bank or for unfunded amounts under such arrangements that may be drawn prior to the cancellation 
of the arrangement.  

Provision for Credit  Losses
The Company recognizes provision for credit losses on the allowance for off-balance sheet credit exposures (e.g., unfunded loan 
commitments) together with provision for credit losses on the loan portfolio in the income statement line item provision for credit 
losses.  Provision for credit losses on the loan portfolio and for off-balance sheet credit exposures were $37,637,000 and $2,128,000 
for the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively. There was no provision for credit losses on debt securities for the year ended 
December 31, 2020, respectively. 
 
Premises and Equipment
Premises and equipment are accounted for at cost less depreciation.  Depreciation is computed on a straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives or the term of the related lease.  The estimated useful life for office buildings is 15 to 40 years and the estimated 
useful life for furniture, fixtures, and equipment is 3 to 10 years. Interest is capitalized for any significant building projects.  For 
additional information relating to premises and equipment, see Note 4.

Leases
The Company leases certain land, premises and equipment from third parties.  A lessee lease is classified as an operating lease unless 
it meets certain criteria (e.g., lease contains option to purchase that Company is reasonably certain to exercise), in which case it is 
classified as a finance lease.  Effective January 1, 2019, operating leases are included in net premises and equipment and other 
liabilities on the Company’s statements of financial condition and lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.  Finance leases are included in net premises and equipment and other borrowed funds on the Company’s 
statements of financial condition.  Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based 
on the present value of lease payments over the lease term.  An ROU asset represents the right to use the underlying asset for the lease 
term and also includes any direct costs and payments made prior to lease commencement and excludes lease incentives.  When an 
implicit rate is not available, an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date is used in 
determining the present value of the lease payments.  A lease term may include an option to extend or terminate the lease when it is 
reasonably certain the option will be exercised.  The Company accounts for lease and nonlease components (e.g., common-area 
maintenance) together as a single combined lease component for all asset classes.  Short-term leases of 12 months or less are excluded 
from accounting guidance; as a result, the lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and the leases are 
not reflected on the Company’s statements of financial condition.  Renewal and termination options are considered when determining 
short-term leases.  Leases are accounted for on an individual lease level.

Lease improvements incurred at the inception of the lease are recorded as an asset and depreciated over the initial term of the lease and 
lease improvements incurred subsequently are depreciated over the remaining term of the lease.  

The Company also leases certain premises and equipment to third parties.  A lessor lease is classified as an operating lease unless it 
meets certain criteria that would classify it as either a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease.  For additional information relating 
to leases, see Note 4.

Other Real Estate Owned
Property acquired by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure is initially recorded at fair value, less estimated selling cost, at 
acquisition date (i.e., cost of the property).  The Company is considered to have received physical possession of residential real estate 
property collateralizing a consumer mortgage loan upon the occurrence of either the Company obtaining legal title to the property or 
the borrower conveying all interest in the property through a deed-in-lieu or similar agreement.  Fair value is determined as the amount 
that could be reasonably expected in a current sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.  Subsequent to the initial acquisition, if the fair value of the asset, less estimated selling 
cost, is less than the cost of the property, a loss is recognized in other expense and the asset carrying value is reduced.  Gain or loss on 
disposition of OREO is recorded in non-interest income or non-interest expense, respectively.  In determining the fair value of the 
properties on the date of transfer and any subsequent estimated losses of net realizable value, the fair value of other real estate 
acquired by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure is determined primarily based upon appraisal or evaluation of the underlying 
property value.
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Long-lived Assets
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset may not be recoverable.  An asset is deemed impaired if the sum of the expected future cash flows is less than the carrying 
amount of the asset.  If impaired, an impairment loss is recognized in other expense to reduce the carrying value of the asset to fair 
value.  At December 31, 2020 and 2019, no long-lived assets were considered materially impaired.

Business Combinations and Intangible Assets
Acquisition accounting requires the total purchase price to be allocated to the estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, including certain intangible assets.  Goodwill is recorded if the purchase price exceeds the net fair value of assets acquired 
and a bargain purchase gain is recorded in other income if the net fair value of assets acquired exceeds the purchase price.

Adjustment of the allocated purchase price may be related to fair value estimates for which all information has not been obtained of 
the acquired entity known or discovered during the allocation period, the period of time required to identify and measure the fair 
values of the assets and liabilities acquired in the business combination.  The allocation period is generally limited to one year 
following consummation of a business combination.

Core deposit intangible represents the intangible value of depositor relationships resulting from deposit liabilities assumed in 
acquisitions and is amortized using an accelerated method based on an estimated runoff of the related deposits.  The core deposit 
intangible is evaluated for impairment and recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying 
amount may not be recoverable, with any changes in estimated useful life accounted for prospectively over the revised remaining life.  
For additional information relating to core deposit intangibles, see Note 5.

The Company tests goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level annually during the third quarter.  The Company has identified 
that each of the Bank divisions are reporting units (i.e., components of the Glacier Bank operating segment) given that each division 
has a separate management team that regularly reviews its respective division financial information; however, the reporting units are 
aggregated into a single reporting unit due to the reporting units having similar economic characteristics.

The goodwill of a reporting unit is tested for impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would 
more-likely-than-not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.  Examples of events and circumstances that 
could trigger the need for interim impairment testing include:

• a significant change in legal factors or in the business climate;
• an adverse action or assessment by a regulator;
• unanticipated competition;
• a loss of key personnel;
• a more-likely-than-not expectation that a reporting unit or a significant portion of a reporting unit will be sold or otherwise 

disposed of; and
• the testing for recoverability of a significant asset group within a reporting unit. 

For the goodwill impairment assessment, the Company has the option, to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the 
existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less 
than its carrying value.  The Company opted to bypass the qualitative assessment for its 2020 and 2019 annual goodwill impairment 
testing and proceed directly to the goodwill impairment assessment.  The goodwill impairment process requires the Company to make 
assumptions and judgments regarding fair value.  The Company calculates an implied fair value and if the implied fair value is less 
than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference.  For additional information relating to goodwill, see Note 
5.

Loan Servicing Rights
For residential real estate loans that are sold with servicing retained, servicing rights are initially recorded at fair value in other assets 
and gain on sale of loans.  Fair value is based on on market prices for comparable mortgage servicing contracts.  The servicing asset is 
subsequently measured using the amortization method which requires the servicing rights to be amortized into non-interest income in 
proportion to, and over the period of, the estimated future net servicing income of the underlying loans.  

Loan servicing rights are evaluated for impairment based upon the fair value of the servicing rights compared to the carrying value.  
Impairment is recognized through a valuation allowance, to the extent that fair value is less than the carrying value.  If the Company 
later determines that all or a portion of the impairment no longer exists, a reduction in the valuation allowance may be recorded.  
Changes in the valuation allowance are recorded in other income.  The fair value of the servicing assets are subject to significant 
fluctuations as a result of changes in estimated actual prepayment speeds and default rates and losses.
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Servicing fee income is recognized in other income for fees earned for servicing loans.  The fees are based on contractual percentage 
of the outstanding principal; or a fixed amount per loan and is recorded when earned.  The amortization of loans servicing fees is 
netted against loan servicing fee income.  For additional information relating to loan servicing rights, see Note 6. 

Equity Securities
Non-marketable equity securities primarily consist of Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) stock.  FHLB stock is restricted because 
such stock may only be sold to FHLB at its par value.  Due to restrictive terms, and the lack of a readily determinable fair value, 
FHLB stock is carried at cost and evaluated for impairment.  The investments in FHLB stock are required investments related to the 
Company’s borrowings from FHLB.  FHLB obtains its funding primarily through issuance of consolidated obligations of the FHLB 
system.  The U.S. government does not guarantee these obligations, and each of the regional FHLBs is jointly and severally liable for 
repayment of each other’s debt.  

The Company also has an insignificant amount of marketable equity securities that are included in other assets on the Company’s 
statements of financial condition.  Marketable equity securities with readily determinable fair values are measured at fair value and 
changes in fair value are recognized in other income.  Marketable equity securities without readily determinable fair values are carried 
at cost, minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the 
identical or a similar investment.  

Other Borrowings
Borrowings of the Company’s consolidated variable interest entities and finance lease arrangements are included in other borrowings. 
For additional information relating to VIE’s, see Note 7.  

Bank-Owned Life Insurance
The Company maintains bank-owned life insurance policies on certain current and former employees and directors, which are 
recorded at their cash surrender values as determined by the insurance carriers.  The appreciation in the cash surrender value of the 
policies is recognized as a component of other non-interest income in the Company’s statements of operations. 

Derivatives and Hedging Activities
The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing operations. The primary risk managed by using derivative instruments 
is interest risk.  Interest rate caps and interest rate swaps have been entered into to manage interest rate risk associated with variable 
rate borrowings and were designated as cash flow hedges.  The Company does not enter into derivative instruments for trading or 
speculative purposes.

These cash flow hedges were  recognized as assets or liabilities on the Company’s statements of financial condition and were 
measured at fair value.  Cash flows resulting from the interest rate derivative financial instruments that were accounted for as hedges 
of assets and liabilities were classified in the Company’s cash flow statement in the same category as the cash flows of the items being 
hedged. For additional information relating to the interest rate caps and interest rate swap agreements, see Note 11.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when services or products are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the Company expects to be entitled.  The Company’s principal source of revenue is interest income from debt securities and 
loans.  Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of ASC Topic 606 was $54,520,000, $69,877,000, and $76,664,000 
for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively, and largely consisted of revenue from service charges and other 
fees from deposits (e.g., overdraft fees, ATM fees, debit card fees).  Due to the short-term nature of the Company’s contracts with 
customers, an insignificant amount of receivables related to such revenue was recorded at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and there were 
no impairment losses recognized.  Policies specific to revenue from contracts with customers include the following:

Service Charges.  Revenue from service charges consists of service charges and fees on deposit accounts under depository agreements 
with customers to provide access to deposited funds and, when applicable, pay interest on deposits.  Service charges on deposit 
accounts may be transactional or non-transactional in nature.  Transactional service charges occur in the form of a service or penalty 
and are charged upon the occurrence of an event (e.g., overdraft fees, ATM fees, wire transfer fees).  Transactional service charges are 
recognized as services are delivered to and consumed by the customer, or as penalty fees are charged.  Non-transactional service 
charges are charges that are based on a broader service, such as account maintenance fees and dormancy fees, and are recognized on a 
monthly basis.
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Debit Card Fees.  Revenue from debit card fees includes interchange fee income from debit cards processed through card association 
networks.  Interchange fees represent a portion of a transaction amount that the Company and other involved parties retain to 
compensate themselves for giving the cardholder immediate access to funds.  Interchange rates are generally set by the card 
association networks and are based on purchase volumes and other factors.  The Company records interchange fees as services are 
provided.   

Stock-based Compensation
Stock-based compensation awards granted, comprised of restricted stock units and stock options, are valued at fair value and 
compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of each award.  The impact of forfeitures of 
stock-based compensation awards on compensation expense is recognized as forfeitures occur.  For additional information relating to 
stock-based compensation, see Note 13.

Advertising and Promotion
Advertising and promotion costs are recognized in the period incurred.

Income Taxes
The Company’s income tax expense consists of current and deferred income tax expense.  Current income tax expense reflects taxes to 
be paid or refunded for the current period by applying the provisions of enacted tax law to earnings or losses.  Deferred income tax 
expense results from changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities between periods.  The Company recognizes interest and penalties 
related to income tax matters in income tax expense.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for estimated future income tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.  The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in income tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date of applicable laws.

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that 
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  The term more-likely-than-not means a likelihood of more than 50 
percent.  The recognition threshold considers the facts, circumstances, and information available at the reporting date and is subject to 
the Company’s judgment.  In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, the Company considers both positive and negative 
evidence. For additional information relating to income taxes, see Note 16.

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income and OCI.  OCI includes unrealized gains and losses, net of tax effect, on available-for-
sale securities and derivatives used for cash flow hedges.  For additional information relating to OCI, see Note 17.

Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding 
during the period presented.  Diluted earnings per share is computed by including the net increase in shares as if dilutive outstanding 
stock options were exercised and restricted stock units were vested, using the treasury stock method.  For additional information 
relating to earnings per share, see Note 18.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2019 and 2018 financial statements to conform to the 2020 presentation.

Accounting Guidance Adopted in 2020
The ASC is the FASB officially recognized source of authoritative GAAP applicable to all public and non-public non-governmental 
entities.  Rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under the authority of the federal 
securities laws are also sources of authoritative GAAP for the Company as an SEC registrant.  All other accounting literature is non-
authoritative.  The following paragraphs provide descriptions of recently adopted ASU’s that may have had a material effect on the 
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

ASU 2017-04 - Intangibles - Goodwill and Other.  In January 2017, FASB amended ASC Topic 350 to simplify the measurement of 
goodwill by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test.  Instead, under these amendments, an entity should perform its 
annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount.  An entity should 
recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the 
loss should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The amendments were effective for public 
business entities for the first interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019.  The Company has goodwill 
from prior business combinations and performs an annual impairment test or more frequently if changes or circumstances occur that 
would more-likely-than-not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying value.  Although the Company cannot 
anticipate future goodwill impairment assessments, based on the most recent assessment, it is unlikely that an impairment amount 
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would need to be calculated and, therefore, at adoption there was no impact from these amendments to the Company’s financial 
position and results of operations. In addition, the current accounting policies and processes were not changed, except for the 
elimination of the Step 2 analysis.  For additional information regarding goodwill impairment testing, see Note 5.

ASU 2016-13 - Financial Instruments - Credit Losses.  In June 2016, FASB amended ASC Topic 326 to replace the incurred loss 
model with a methodology that reflects current expected credit losses (“CECL”) over the life of the loan and requires consideration of 
a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to calculate credit loss estimates. The amendments were effective for public 
business entities for the first interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019.  The Company adopted the 
amendments on January 1, 2020 using the modified retrospective approach.  The financial statement results and accounting policies 
beginning January 1, 2020 are presented under ASC Topic 326, whereas prior periods continue to be reported in accordance with 
previously applicable GAAP.  The Company recorded a net reduction of $12,347,000 in retained earnings due to the adoption of the 
amendments.  The transition adjustment included an increase in the ACL on loans of $3,720,000, an increase in the ACL on off-
balance sheet credit exposures of $12,817,000, and a corresponding increase in deferred tax assets of $4,190,000.  The Company 
developed internal implementation controls over the development of the ACL model and resulting financial statement disclosures.  
The Company has adjusted its processes and procedures to calculate the ACL, including changes in assumptions and estimates to 
consider expected credit losses over the life of the loan versus the prior accounting practice that utilized the incurred loss model.  
Further, the Company revised procedures and accounting policies for determining an ACL related to held-to-maturity debt securities 
and off-balance sheet arrangements for other-than-temporary impairment on available-for-sale debt securities which utilize an 
allowance approach.  The Company engaged a third-party vendor solution to evaluate the new methodology, including model 
validation, adjusting assumptions utilized, and to review the accuracy of the financial statement disclosures.  For additional 
information on the allowances for credit losses, see Notes 2 and 3.

Accounting Guidance Pending Adoption at December 31, 2020 
The are no newly issued but not yet effective ASUs that could have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of 
operations.
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Subordinated Debentures Owed to Trust Subsidiaries
Trust preferred securities were issued by the Company’s trust subsidiaries, the common stock of which is wholly-owned by the 
Company, in conjunction with the Company issuing subordinated debentures to the trust subsidiaries.  The terms of the subordinated 
debentures are the same as the terms of the trust preferred securities.  The Company guaranteed the payment of distributions and 
payments for redemption or liquidation of the trust preferred securities to the extent of funds held by the trust subsidiaries.  The 
obligations of the Company under the subordinated debentures together with the guarantee and other back-up obligations, in the 
aggregate, constitute a full and unconditional guarantee by the Company of the obligations of all trusts under the trust preferred 
securities.

The trust preferred securities are subject to mandatory redemption upon repayment of the subordinated debentures at their stated 
maturity date or the earlier redemption in an amount equal to their liquidation amount plus accumulated and unpaid distributions to the 
date of redemption.  Interest distributions are payable quarterly.  The Company may defer the payment of interest at any time for a 
period not exceeding 20 consecutive quarters provided that the deferral period does not extend past the stated maturity.  During any 
such deferral period, distributions on the trust preferred securities will also be deferred and the Company’s ability to pay dividends on 
its common shares will be restricted.

Subject to prior approval by the FRB, the trust preferred securities may be redeemed at par prior to maturity at the Company’s option 
on or after the redemption date.  All of the Company’s trust preferred securities have reached the redemption date and could be 
redeemed at the Company’s option.  The trust preferred securities may also be redeemed at any time in whole (but not in part) for the 
Trusts in the event of unfavorable changes in laws or regulations that result in 1) subsidiary trusts becoming subject to federal income 
tax on income received on the subordinated debentures; 2) interest payable by the Company on the subordinated debentures becoming 
non-deductible for federal tax purposes; 3) the requirement for the trusts to register under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as 
amended; or 4) loss of the ability to treat the trust preferred securities as Tier 1 capital under the FRB capital adequacy guidelines.

Provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act require that if a depository institution holding company exceeds $15 billion due to an acquisition, 
then trust preferred securities are to be excluded from Tier 1 capital beginning in the period in which the transaction occurred.  During 
the current year, the Company’s acquisition of SBAZ on February 29, 2020, resulted in total consolidated assets exceeding 
$15 billion; accordingly the trust preferred securities were included in Tier 2 capital instead of Tier 1. 

Subordinated Debentures
The Company acquired subordinated debentures with the FSB acquisition that qualify as Tier 2 capital under the applicable capital 
adequacy rules and regulations promulgated by the FRB.  The Tier 2 subordinated debentures are not deposits and are not insured by 
the FDIC or any other government agency.  Such obligations are subordinated to the claims of general creditors, are unsecured and are 
ineligible as collateral.  The principal amount is due at maturity and interest distributions are payable quarterly.  The Tier 2 
subordinated debentures shall not be prepaid prior to the fifth anniversary of the closing date, which is September 30, 2020, except in 
the event the obligation no longer qualifies as Tier 2 capital (“Tier 2 capital event”) or the interest payable is no longer deductible 
(“tax event”).  Any prepayment made in connection with a Tier 2 capital event or a tax event will be subject to obtaining the prior 
approval of the FRB.  The Company has the ability to prepay these obligations on or after the fifth anniversary of the closing date at 
any time with notice.

For additional information on regulatory capital, see Note 12.  

Note 11.  Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Cash Flow Hedges
The Company is exposed to certain risk relating to its ongoing business operations.  The primary risk managed by using derivative 
instruments is interest rate risk.  Interest rate caps and interest rate swaps have been entered into to manage interest rate risk associated 
with forecasted variable rate borrowings. 

Interest Rate Cap Derivatives.  In March 2020, the Company purchased interest rate caps designated as cash flow hedges with notional 
amounts totaling $130,500,000 on its variable rate subordinated debentures and were determined to be fully effective during the year  
ended December 31, 2020.  The interest rate caps require receipt of variable amounts from the counterparty when interest rates rise 
above the strike price in the contracts.  The strike prices in the five year term contracts range from 1.5 percent to 2 percent plus 3 
month LIBOR.  At December 31, 2020, the interest rate caps had a fair value of $201,000 and were reported as other assets on the 
Company’s statements of financial condition.  Changes in fair value were recorded in OCI.  Amortization recorded on the interest rate 
caps totaled $126,000 and was reported as a component of interest expense on subordinated debentures for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. 
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Note 12.  Regulatory Capital

The Federal Reserve has adopted capital adequacy guidelines that are used to assess the adequacy of capital in supervising a bank 
holding company. The federal banking agencies implemented final rules (“Final Rules”) to establish a new comprehensive regulatory 
capital framework with a phase-in period beginning on January 1, 2015 and ending on January 1, 2019. The Final Rules implemented 
certain regulatory amendments based on the recommendation of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and certain 
requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act and substantially amended the regulatory risk-based capital rules applicable to the Company. The 
Final Rules require the Company to hold a 2.5 percent capital conservation buffer designed to absorb losses during periods of 
economic stress.  The Company has elected to opt-out of the requirement to include most components of accumulated other 
comprehensive income.  As of December 31, 2020, management believes the Company and Bank meet all capital adequacy 
requirements to which they are subject.

Prompt corrective action regulations provide the following classifications: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, 
significantly undercapitalized and critically undercapitalized.  If undercapitalized, capital distributions (including payment of a 
dividend) are generally restricted, as is paying management fees to its bank holding company.  Failure to meet minimum capital 
requirements set forth in the table below can initiate certain mandatory and possible additional discretionary actions by regulators that, 
if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company’s and Bank’s financial condition.  The Company’s and Bank’s 
capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings and 
other factors.

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the most recent regulatory notifications categorized the Company and Bank as well capitalized under 
the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action.  To be well capitalized, the Bank must maintain minimum total capital, Tier 1 
capital, Common Tier 1 capital and Tier 1 Leverage ratios as set forth in the table below.  There are no conditions or events since 
December 31, 2020 that management believes have changed the Company’s or Bank’s risk-based capital category.  

Current guidance from the Federal Reserve provides, among other things, that dividends per share on the Company’s common stock 
generally should not exceed earnings per share, measured over the previous four fiscal quarters.  In certain circumstances, Montana 
law also places limits or restrictions on a bank’s ability to declare and pay dividends.
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The average remaining contractual term on outstanding stock options at December 31, 2020 is 5.6 years.  The aggregate intrinsic value 
of the outstanding stock options at December 31, 2020 was $600,000.

Note 14.  Employee Benefit Plans

The Company provides its qualified employees with a comprehensive benefit program, including health, dental and vision insurance, 
life and accident insurance, short- and long-term disability coverage, vacation and sick leave, Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan, stock-
based compensation plan, deferred compensation plans, and supplemental executive retirement plan (“SERP”).  The Company has 
elected to self-insure certain costs related to employee health, dental and vision benefit programs.  Costs resulting from non-insured 
losses are expensed as incurred.  The Company has purchased insurance that limits its exposure on an individual claim basis for the 
employee health benefit programs. 

Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan
The Company’s Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan have safe harbor and employer discretionary components.  To be eligible to participate 
in the plan, an employee must be at least 18 years of age and employed for three full months.  Employees are eligible to participate in 
the 401(k) plan the first day of the month once they have met the eligibility requirements.  To be considered eligible for the employer 
discretionary contribution of the profit sharing plan, an employee must be 18 years of age, worked one full calendar quarter, worked 
501 hours in the plan year and be employed as of the last day of the plan year.  Participants are at all times fully vested in all 
contributions.

The profit sharing plan contributions consists of a 3 percent non-elective safe harbor contribution fully funded by the Company and an 
employer discretionary contribution.  The employer discretionary contribution depends on the Company’s profitability.  The total 
profit sharing plan expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $22,047,000, $17,227,000 and $15,406,000, 
respectively.
 
The 401(k) plan allows eligible employees under the age of 50 to contribute up to 60 percent, and those 50 and older to contribute up 
to 100 percent of their eligible annual compensation up to the limit set annually by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”).  The 
Company matches an amount equal to 50 percent of the first 6 percent of an employee’s contribution.  The Company’s contribution to 
the 401(k) plan for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $4,985,000, $4,236,000, and $4,037,000, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plans
The Company has non-funded deferred compensation plans for directors, senior officers and certain nonemployee service providers.  
The plans provide for participants’ elective deferral of cash payments of up to 50 percent of a participants’ salary and 100 percent of 
bonuses and directors fees.  As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the liability related to the plans was $9,276,000 and $8,660,000, 
respectively, and was included in other liabilities.  The total amount deferred for the plans was $1,109,000, $766,000, and $803,000, 
for the years ending December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.  The participant receives an earnings credit at a rate equal to 50 
percent of the Company’s return on average equity.  Total expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 for the 
plans was $504,000, $480,000 and $502,000, respectively.  

In connection with several acquisitions, the Company assumed the obligations of deferred compensation plans for certain key 
employees.  As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the liability related to the acquired plans was $17,321,000 and $17,661,000, 
respectively, and was included in other liabilities.  Total expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 for the 
acquired plans was $971,000, $992,000 and $801,000, respectively.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
The Company has SERP which is intended to supplement payments due to participants upon retirement under the Company’s other 
qualified plans.  The Company credits the participant’s account on an annual basis for an amount equal to employer contributions that 
would have otherwise been allocated to the participant’s account under the tax-qualified plans were it not for limitations imposed by 
the IRS or the participation in the non-funded deferred compensation plan.  Eligible employees include participants of the non-funded 
deferred compensation plan and employees whose benefits were limited as a result of IRS regulations.  As of December 31, 2020 and 
2019, the liability related to the SERP was $3,375,000 and $2,713,000, respectively, and was included in other liabilities. The 
Company’s required contribution to the SERP for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $910,000, $662,000, and 
$423,000, respectively. The participant receives an earnings credit at a rate equal to 50 percent of the Company’s return on average 
equity.  Total expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 for the SERP was $199,000, $120,000, and $122,000, 
respectively.
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Note 21.  Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. There is a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure 
fair value are as follows:
 
Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets 
that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the 
full term of the assets or liabilities

Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or 
liabilities

Transfers in and out of Level 1 (quoted prices in active markets), Level 2 (significant other observable inputs) and Level 3 (significant 
unobservable inputs) are recognized on the actual transfer date.  There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy levels during the 
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018.

Recurring Measurements
The following is a description of the inputs and valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis, as well as the general classification of such assets and liabilities pursuant to the valuation hierarchy.  There have been 
no significant changes in the valuation techniques during the period ended December 31, 2020.

Debt securities, available-for-sale.  The fair value for available-for-sale debt securities is estimated by obtaining quoted market prices 
for identical assets, where available.  If such prices are not available, fair value is based on independent asset pricing services and 
models, the inputs of which are market-based or independently sourced market parameters, including but not limited to, yield curves, 
interest rates, volatilities, market spreads, prepayments, defaults, recoveries, cumulative loss projections, and cash flows.  Such 
securities are classified in Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.  Where Level 1 or Level 2 inputs are not available, such securities are 
classified as Level 3 within the hierarchy.

Fair value determinations of available-for-sale debt securities are the responsibility of the Company’s corporate accounting and 
treasury departments.  The Company obtains fair value estimates from independent third party vendors on a monthly basis.  The 
vendors’ pricing system methodologies, procedures and system controls are reviewed to ensure they are appropriately designed and 
operating effectively.  The Company reviews the vendors’ inputs for fair value estimates and the recommended assignments of levels 
within the fair value hierarchy.  The review includes the extent to which markets for debt securities are determined to have limited or 
no activity, or are judged to be active markets.  The Company reviews the extent to which observable and unobservable inputs are 
used as well as the appropriateness of the underlying assumptions about risk that a market participant would use in active markets, 
with adjustments for limited or inactive markets.  In considering the inputs to the fair value estimates, the Company places less 
reliance on quotes that are judged to not reflect orderly transactions, or are non-binding indications.  In assessing credit risk, the 
Company reviews payment performance, collateral adequacy, third party research and analyses, credit rating histories and issuers’ 
financial statements.  For those markets determined to be inactive or limited, the valuation techniques used are models for which 
management has verified that discount rates are appropriately adjusted to reflect illiquidity and credit risk. 

Loans held for sale, at fair value.  Loans held for sale measured at fair value, for which an active secondary market and readily 
available market prices exist, are initially valued at the transaction price and are subsequently valued by using quoted prices for similar 
assets, adjusted for specific attributes of that loan or other observable market data, such as outstanding commitments from third party 
investors.  Loans held for sale measured at fair value are classified within Level 2.  Included in gain on sale of loans were net losses of 
$5,368,000, net gains of $661,000 and net gains of $155,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, 
from the changes in fair value of loans held for sale measured at fair value.  Electing to measure loans held for sale at fair value 
reduces certain timing differences and better matches changes in fair value of these assets with changes in the value of the derivative 
instruments used to economically hedge them without the burden of complying with the requirements for hedge accounting.

Loan interest rate lock commitments.  Fair value estimates for loan interest rate lock commitments were based upon the  estimated 
sales price, origination fees, direct costs, interest rate changes, etc. and were obtained from an independent third party.  The 
components of the valuation were observable or could be corroborated by observable market data and, therefore, were classified 
within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.  
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There have been no changes or disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure.
 

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
An evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the CEO and 
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures.  Based on that evaluation, the CEO 
and CFO have concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this report, the disclosure controls and procedures are effective to 
provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that are filed or submitted under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are recorded, processed, summarized and timely reported as provided in the SEC’s rules and forms.  
As a result of this evaluation, there were no significant changes in the internal control over financial reporting during the year ended 
December 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonable likely to materially affect, the internal control over financial 
reporting. 

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting as it relates to its 
financial statements presented in conformity with GAAP.  The Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable 
assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial 
statements in accordance with GAAP.  Internal control over financial reporting includes self monitoring mechanisms and actions are 
taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.

There are inherent limitations in any internal control, no matter how well designed, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and 
not be detected, including the possibility of circumvention or overriding of controls.  Accordingly, even an effective internal control 
system can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation.  Further, because of changes in 
conditions, the effectiveness of an internal control system may vary over time.

Management assessed its internal control structure over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. This assessment was based on 
criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in the “2013 Internal Control – Integrated Framework” issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on this assessment, management asserts that the 
Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as it relates to its financial statements presented in conformity 
with GAAP.

BKD, LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2020, has issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  Such attestation report expresses an 
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 and is 
included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
 

Item 9B.  Other Information

None
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PART III
 
Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information regarding “Directors and Executive Officers” is set forth under the headings “Election of Directors” and “Management – 
Named Executive Officers Who Are Not Directors” of the Company’s 2021 Annual Meeting Proxy Statement (“Proxy Statement”) 
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information regarding “Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act” is set forth under the section “Delinquent Section 16(a) 
Reports” of the Company’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information regarding the Company’s Corporate Governance, including the Audit Committee, is set forth under the headings of 
“Corporate Governance” and “Report of Audit Committee” in the Company’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by 
reference.

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers, a Director Code of Ethics and a Code of Ethics and Conduct 
applicable to all employees.  Each of the codes is available electronically by visiting the Company’s website at 
www.glacierbancorp.com and clicking on “Governance Documents”  or by writing to:  Glacier Bancorp, Inc., Corporate Secretary, 49 
Commons Loop, Kalispell, Montana 59901.  Waivers of the applicable code for directors or executive officers are required to be 
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors.  Information regarding any such waivers will be disclosed on a current report on 
Form 8-K within four business days after the waiver is approved.
 

Item 11.  Executive Compensation

Information regarding “Executive Compensation” is set forth under the headings “Compensation of Directors,” “Executive 
Compensation,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Executive Compensation Tables” of the Company’s Proxy Statement 
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information regarding the “Compensation Committee Report” is set forth under the heading “Report of Compensation Committee” of 
the Company’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
 

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder 
Matters

Information regarding “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” is set 
forth under the headings “Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” 
“Compensation of Directors” and “Director Equity Compensation” of the Company’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by 
reference.
 

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information regarding “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence” is set forth under the headings 
“Transactions with Management” and “Corporate Governance – Director Independence” of the Company’s Proxy Statement and is 
incorporated herein by reference.
 

Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information regarding “Principal Accounting Fees and Services” is set forth under the heading “Auditors – Fees Paid to Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm” of the Company’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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